POSGRADO INTERINSTITUCIONAL DE CIENCIA Y TECNOLOGÍA

DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT, CHARACTERIZATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF A GROUND REACTION FORCE MONITORING SYSTEM FOR GAIT ANALYSIS

THESIS

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER IN SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

IN MECHATRONICS ENGINEERING

PRESENTS

ENG. DANIEL ALBERTO MARTINEZ BARBA

THESIS ADVISOR DR. RODOLFO MARTÍNEZ MANUEL

AGUASCALIENTES, AGUASCALIENTES, JUNE, 2021



CENTRO DE INVESTIGACIONES EN OPTICA, A.C.

Abstract

Gait has a strong relationship with the neurological and biomechanical states of our body. This relationship enables gait analysis as a powerful tool to develop auxiliary applications for clinical diagnosis and rehabilitation. On the present thesis, the design, development, characterization, and deployment of a system to monitor and analyze the ground reaction forces (GRF) produced during gait is described. The developed device consists of a sensor footwear integrated with Force Sensing Resistors (FSRs). The sensor footwear has two different modes: real time wireless transmission mode, and datalogger mode.

Furthermore, as far as we know, the importance of in-shoe sensor characterization was not reported in the literature, so we demonstrated the importance of in-shoe sensor characterization to compensate the error contributed by the inherent variability of the footwear's sole to the force/pressure measurements. Additionally, a self-calibrating algorithm was proposed and implemented on the sensor footwear to dynamically adapt the Force Measurement Range (FMR) of the sensors depending on the user's weight. The self-calibration algorithm improved the force measurements' resolution up to 16.66 times. Moreover, gait monitoring software for PC and smartphones (Android) was developed. The PC software was designed as a tool to visualize the GRF produced during gait on real time in consulting and rehabilitation rooms. The smartphone app was designed to take advantage of the datalogging mode of the sensor footwear to enable gait monitoring during daily life activities. Finally, the system was deployed on the consulting room of a specialist in Rheumatology, where it was tested during three months with real patients. During this assessment period, the system was used to acquire tests from 70 patients, thus, demonstrating the capabilities of the system to operate in clinical applications. Feedback from both patients and specialist will be used to improve the system on future work.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION		1
1.1	BACKGROUND	2
1.2	PROBLEM DEFINITION	3
1.3	JUSTIFICATION	3
1.4	OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH	4
1.4	4.1 General objective	4
1.4	4.2 Specific objectives	4
1.5	HYPOTHESIS	4
1.6	EXPECTED RESULTS	5
1.7	CONTENT DESCRIPTION	5

CHAPTER 2: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK ______7

2.1	INTRODUCTION	7
2.2	THE GAIT	8
2.2	.1 Gait analysis	8
2.2	.2 Gait cycle and its phases	9
2.2	.3 Spatio Temporal parameters of gait	11
2.3	GROUND REACTION FORCE ON GAIT	12
2.4	PLANTAR PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION	15
2.5	MEASUREMENT THEORY	16
2.6	VARIABILITY ON GAIT MEASUREMENTS	20
2.6	.1 Gait variability	20
2.6	.2 Sensor imprecisions	21
2.6	.3 Minimizing variability	22
2.7	CONCLUSION OF THE CHAPTER	23

CHAPTER 3: STATE OF THE ART		
3.1		24
3.2	HISTORY OF GAIT MONITORING AND ANALYSIS	25

DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT, CHARACTERIZATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF A GROUND REACTION FORCE MONITORING SYSTEM FOR GAIT ANALYSIS

3.3 Тн	E GAIT MONITORING SYSTEM CLASSIFICATION	28
3.3.1	Platform systems	29
3.3.2	Vision systems	30
3.3.3	Wearable systems	30
3.3.4	Discussion	31
3.4 STATE	E OF THE ART: WEARABLE SYSTEMS	33
3.4.1	Commercial systems	33
3.4.2	Academic Systems	35
3.5 STATE	E OF THE ART: GAIT ANALYSIS	38
3.5.1	Applications of gait analysis	38
3.6 CONC	LUSION OF THE CHAPTER	41

CHAPTER 4: DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF SENSOR FOOTWEAR _____ 42

4.1	١N	IRODUCTION TO THE CHAPTER	42
4.2	Set	NSOR INSOLE	43
4.	.2.1	Sensor selection and positioning	43
4.	2.2	Development of sensor insole	44
4.3	Ele	CTRONICS	47
4.	.3.1	Specifications of electronic system	47
4.	.3.2	Microcontroller and wireless transmitter selection	48
4.	.3.3	Self-calibrating circuit: Signal conditioning	49
4.	3.4	Design of electronic board	53
4.4	De	EVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF SENSOR FOOTWEAR	54
4.	.4.1	Sensor footwear integration	54
4.	.4.2	Sensor footwear characterization	55
4.5	Сс	NCLUSION OF THE CHAPTER	59

CHAPTER 5: DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF GAIT MONITORING SOFTWARE 60

5.1	Intr	ODUCTION TO THE CHAPTER	60
5.2	Νετ	WORK SETUPS OF THE SYSTEM	61
5.2	.1	Wireless Local Area Network	61
5.2	2.2	Point to point network	62
5.3	SEN	ISOR FOOTWEAR PROGRAM	63
5.3	5.1	Initialization	63

DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT, CHARACTERIZATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF A GROUND REACTION FORCE MONITORING SYSTEM FOR GAIT ANALYSIS

5.3	3.2	Main loop	65
5.4	PC	GAIT MONITORING SOFTWARE	66
5.4	4.1	Real time visualization mode	67
5.4	4.1	Gait test reproduction	69
5.5	SMA	ARTPHONE GAIT MONITORING APP	70
5.6	Cor	NCLUSION OF THE CHAPTER	71

CHAPTER 6: GAIT ANALYSIS ______72

6.1 IN	TRODUCTION TO THE CHAPTER	72
6.2	DEVELOPMENT OF PREPROCESSING GAIT DATA PIPELINE	73
6.2.1	Test acquisition methodology	73
6.2.2	Preprocessing gait data pipeline	74
6.3 0	GAIT GRF PATTERN CLASSIFICATION: A PROOF OF CONCEPT	78
6.3.1	Acquisition of gait patterns	78
6.3.2	Classifier Architecture	80
6.3.3	Results	81
6.4 0	CONCLUSION OF THE CHAPTER	

CHAPTER 7: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION		
7.1	RESULTS OF THE PROJECT	84
7.2	DISCUSSION	

CHAP	TER 8: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	93
8.1		94
8.2	RECOMENDATIONS	96
REFE	RENCES	97

List of Figures

CHAF	PTER 2: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	
2.1	GAIT CYCLE AND ITS PHASES	11
2.2	COMPONENTS OF GRF VECTOR	13
2.3	BEHAVIOR OF GRF VECTOR ON A GAIT CYCLE	13
2.4	CRITICAL POINTS OF THE VERTICAL COMPONENT OF THE GRF	14
2.5	PLANTAR PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION DURING NORMAL GAIT	15
2.6	PATHWAY OF CENTER OF PRESSURE IN NORMAL GAIT	16
2.7	NORMAL DISTRIBUTION	17
2.8	THE EFFECT OF RANDOM ERROR AND SYSTEMATIC ERROR	19
2.9	EFFECT OF SPEED ON GRF	20

CHAP	TER 4: DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF SENSOR FOOTWEAR	
4.1	COTTON LINING INSOLES USED FOR SENSOR PLACEMENT	43
4.2	SENSOR SELECTION AND POSITIONING	44
4.3	SENSORS POSITIONED ON THE COTTON INSOLE	45
4.4	WIRES RESTING ON CARVED DUCTS ON THE INSOLE	45
4.5	WIRING OF SENSOR INSOLE S	46
4.6	FINAL STATE OF SENSOR INSOLE	46
4.7	CIRCUIT SCHEME OF THE PROPOSED ELECTRONIC BOARD	47
4.8	ESP32 MICROCONTROLLER	48
4.9	Voltage response of the sensor with $0-200\ N\ s$	52
4.10	SMART SENSOR FOOTWEAR CIRCUIT	53
4.11	FOOTWEAR SENSOR CHARACTERIZATION SETUP	56
4.12	DIFFERENT RESPONSE OF THE SENSORS WHEN THE SAME FORCE IS APPLIED	57
4.13	VARIATION IN SENSOR RESPONSE ON THE SAME POSITION, DIFFERENT SHOE	57
4.14	SENSOR FOOTWEAR	58

DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT, CHARACTERIZATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF A GROUND REACTION FORCE MONITORING SYSTEM FOR GAIT ANALYSIS

CHAF	TER 5: DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF GAIT MONITORING SOFTWARE	
5.1	WLAN'S SETUP	61
5.2	POINT TO POINT SETUP NETWORK	63
5.3	INITIALIZATION SEQUENCE	64
5.4	Main loop flowchart and list of commands of the sensor footwear program \ldots	65
5.5	GAIT MONITORING SOFTWARE INTERFACE	66
5.6	REAL TIME VISUALIZATION ROUTINE, FLOW CHART	67
5.7	GAIT TEST REPRODUCTION FEATURE	69
5.8	MAIN SCREEN OF ANDROID APP	70

CHAP	TER 6: GAIT ANALYSIS	
6.1	GAIT TEST FLOW CHART	73
6.2	INTER-STATIC POSITION GAIT DATA SEGMENTED	75
6.3	PROPOSED GAIT-SLICING PROCES	76
6.4	DIVISION OF GAIT CYCLE	77
6.5	GRF SIGNALS OF A STEP	77
6.6	SETUP OF FOOT PERTURBATIONS	78
6.7	PREPROCESSED STEP IMAGES FOR GAIT PATTERN CLASSIFICATION	79
6.8	CONVOLUTIONAL NEURAL NETWORK ARCHITECTURE	80
6.9	LOSS AND ACCURACY GRAPHS	81
6.10	CONFUSION MATRIX	82

СНАР	TER 7: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
7.1	Characterization curves for $0-25\ N$ and $0-200\ N\ FM$.86
7.2	GRF TENDENCY OF GAIT TESTS' SEGMENTS	.88

List of Tables

CHAP	PTER 2: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK
2.1	SPATIO-TEMPORAL PARAMETERS OF GAIT11
2.2	NORMATIVE RANGES FOR THE PEAK FORCES OF CRITICAL POINTS OF GRF14
2.3	PARAMETERS USED TO CHARACTERIZE SENSOR'S PERFORMANCE
CHAP	PTER 3: STATE OF THE ART
3.1	QUANTITATIVE SYSTEMS FOR GAIT ANALYSIS
3.2	COMMERCIAL WEARABLE SYSTEMS FOR PPD MONITORING
CHAP	TER 4: DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF SENSOR FOOTWEAR
4.1	THEORETICAL OPTIMAL RF FOR NON-INVERTED AMPLIFIER
4.2	EXPERIMENTAL OPTIMAL RF FOR NON-INVERTED AMPLIFIER

DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT, CHARACTERIZATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF A GROUND REACTION FORCE MONITORING SYSTEM FOR GAIT ANALYSIS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION



1.1 BACKGROUND

Most people take the gait for granted, as we perform it effortlessly most of the time and even unconsciously. However, if we observe the gait carefully, it may tell us a lot of things. For instance, the gait can be an indicator of the physiological and neurological state of a person, as is the result of complex interactions of neurological and biomechanical processes. When studying gait, several parameters are monitored, such as ground reaction forces and how these loads distribute along the foot (plantar pressure distribution), joint moments and angles, gait-phases' times, etc. If we monitored the gait from a large group of individuals, we could reach the conclusion that every individual has its own characteristic gait style, to the extent that people or an algorithm could distinguish an individual from its gait; but also, at the same time, we would see some patterns emerge from the group, we would find standard ranges of angular motion of the joints, standard ranges of ground reaction forces on the feet, etc. Patterns that we could stablish as normal. Then, there would be also measurements outside the normal ranges, and it could be due to diverse causes, for example, joint misalignment or wear, physical injury or sequels from it, neurological pathologies, among other reasons.

It is extraordinary that even with these pathologies, the body adapts to achieve balance and coordination to walk. However, the fact that we can walk successfully from point A to B does not mean that everything is OK. But then, why is it so important to maintain a normal gait, if our body is able to adapt to achieve the balance to walk anyway? The human body has adapted through ages to our current physiology and biomechanics, and as mentioned before, there are certain ground reaction force distribution patterns, joint moments and angles, that lead to an efficient distribution of the load on the joints: when the loads at which the foot is subjected are distributed on an "unnatural" way, the forces cause a pathologic stress in the lower limb joints, which they can endure, and may not cause an immediate hazard, but in the long term, these pathologic load distributions cause an accelerated wear on the joints, leading to rheumatic disorders, causing pain, and on the most severe cases, disability.



1.2 PROBLEM DEFINITION

With such a strong relation between the gait and many pathologies, the potential of gait monitoring and analysis to develop diagnosis tools and improve quality of life has developed an interest in many research groups. The research and development of gait monitoring tools commenced with force plate technologies, from static force plates to sensor treadmills. Then, as wireless technologies such as Bluetooth emerged, the development of wearable sensors popularized, and also with the advances on computer hardware and artificial vision algorithms, powerful vision systems also arrived to the gait research scene. Each group with its own strengths and weaknesses has already demonstrated to be useful in applications like the study and monitoring of patients who suffer from Parkinson's disease, the study of plantar pressure distribution on diabetic feet, fall risk evaluation on elder people, osteoarthritis, among many other applications.

Nowadays, motion capture systems and force plates are the most used technologies on gait analysis. Both technologies achieve high accuracy on their respective areas, vision systems on kinematic measurements, and force plates on kinetic measurements. However, both force plates and vision systems have two main limitations, the first one is the cost of these systems, and the second one is that they need to be pre-installed in the place that they will operate, which disables its usability on real life applications.

1.3 JUSTIFICATION

One of the most important advantages of sensor footwear and other wearable sensors is their versatility to be used outside highly controlled conditions, in contrast with force plates and vision systems; this is especially important for the implementation of gait monitoring and analysis on real life applications. To achieve this goal, research groups have focused on several areas of the development of sensor footwear and other wearable systems. For example, the development of accurate sensors or methodologies to achieve better accuracy on existent sensors, calibration methodologies, energy efficiency of the system, aesthetics, comfort, and social acceptance of wearable sensors.



In this work, we propose a gait monitoring and analysis system. The design, development, characterization, and implementation of a self-calibrating sensor footwear is presented. Also, the development of a PC and mobile software for gait monitoring and analysis is described, the software allows the user to record the gait and subsequently segment the gait relevant data of the recorded tests and standardize it for analysis. We also demonstrate a proof of concept of an application of gait classification using machine learning algorithms.

1.4 OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH

1.4.1 General objective

Design, develop, characterize and deploy a monitoring and analysis system to record and analyze the ground reaction forces of the foot produced during gait.

1.4.2 Specific objectives

- Research the wearable gait monitoring literature.
- Design and develop a low-cost sensor footwear.
- Characterize the developed sensor footwear.
- Develop PC and mobile gait monitoring software.
- Deploy the gait monitoring system on a consulting room.
- Develop a gait-data pre-processing pipeline.
- Demonstrate a proof of concept of a gait analysis application using machine learning algorithms.

1.5 HYPOTHESIS

Gait plantar pressure distribution patterns can be identified and classified through the development and implementation of a sensor footwear-based monitoring system.



1.6 EXPECTED RESULTS

We organized the research project into two main stages:

- 1. The first stage consists on the design, development and characterization of a gait monitoring system, the expected results for this stage are the following products:
 - Sensor footwear
 - PC Monitoring software
 - Smartphone application
 - Journal article
- The second stage consists on the deployment of the system on a consulting room, data acquisition, and data analyzing to create a gait preprocessing pipeline. The expected product of this stage is:
 - Data preprocessing pipeline

1.7 CONTENT DESCRIPTION

In this chapter, a brief introduction about the gait has been presented, we expose our view on the potential impact of the applications of gait monitoring and analysis to highlight the importance of the field and to justify the work we are about to present. The thesis is divided into eight chapters. A brief description of the following chapters is shown below:

In **chapter 2**, the core concepts and theories to understand this work are presented, among the topics presented, we write about the lower limb biomechanics and how all their components influence on the gait, it is also described in detail, the gait, its phases, and the parameters to quantitively analyze it, also a description of the machine learning algorithms implemented to develop our analysis tools is presented, and many other topics relevant to the present research.

In **chapter 3**, the history of the development of gait monitoring systems is presented, it is focused on the development of sensor footwear and insoles. Then, divided in two, relevant literature is presented: development of gait monitoring tools, and applications of gait analysis. About the former, sensor configurations, characterization, and calibration,



among other aspects are highlighted, and for the latter, the gait analysis applications and their methodologies are classified. On this chapter, we expose some of the goals of the field of gait monitoring and analysis.

In **chapter 4**, the design, development, and characterization of a sensor footwear is presented. All the designs, considerations, and methods to build our device are described in this chapter. Also, we contribute to the field with the proposition of a self-calibrating algorithm to optimize the sensors' resolution depending on the user's weight. Another contribution of this work, as it has not been reported before, is the demonstration of the importance of in-shoe sensor characterization for applications where objective comparisons between subject measurements are needed because of the variability of sensor response due to the inherent variability of the footwear sole (even on flattened-sole footwear).

In **chapter 5**, we present the operating modes of our gait monitoring system. The technical aspects about networking and software development are described. The main focus of the chapter is the description of the features of the software, the data flow of the system, and how the software and the system as a whole is intended to be used in real-life applications.

In **chapter 6**, the methodologies to acquire our data are presented. Also, the algorithms used for filtering, segmenting, and standardizing our data are described. Finally, a proof of concept of classification of plantar pressure distribution pathologies is demonstrated using data obtained with our system and machine learning algorithms.

In **chapter 7**, the final results of our research work are resumed: the developed plantar pressure monitoring system, software, algorithms and methodologies. We also discuss our results and highlight the strengths and weaknesses of our developed system in comparison to systems of the literature. We also discuss how our proposals can contribute on the current state of the gait monitoring and analysis field. Finally, in **chapter 8**, we present the conclusion of the thesis, and state the future work for this project.

CHAPTER 2:

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

2.1 INTRODUCTION

In this chapter, the core concepts of the thesis are described. First, the definitions of gait and gait analysis are stated according to the clinical gait analysis literature. Also, the main aim of gait analysis is presented. Then, the most used phases and spatio-temporal parameters of gait are described, as they are often a starting point when analyzing gait in a variety of applications.

Then, the behavior of ground reaction forces (GRF) and how they distribute along the foot during gait (Plantar Pressure Distribution) is described. Afterwards, some basic concepts of statistics and measurement theory are presented. And finally, some factors that add variability to the gait measurements are mentioned, such as design of the sensor system, and inherent variability on the gait of the individuals, these factors are to be considered when designing clinical studies to minimize both systematic and random errors and obtain better results when analyzing gait.



2.2 THE GAIT

Gait is a skill often learned through countless hours of practice during our childhood. Gait can be defined as the cyclic motion of limbs to move the body forward. This cyclic motion is integrated by a sequence of coordinated movement patterns that move the body from one point to another while supporting and transferring the weight of the body [1]. For the joints to move, the muscles produce forces to pull the bones, the muscle signals are sent by the nervous system, which integrates multisensory data (i.e., visual, vestibular sensations, etc.) to achieve constant adaptability during gait to compensate speed, terrain and other perturbations [2].

To fully understand gait, and analyze it, there are core concepts that must be explained. In the following sections, concepts such as the gait cycle and its main spatial-temporal parameters are described. First, a definition of gait analysis and its objective is presented.

2.2.1 Gait analysis

The definition of Stergiou states that gait analysis is a set of procedures to observe, record, analyze, and interpret movement patterns performed as part of the skill of gait [1]. Through history, the main objective of gait analysis has been to gather information to characterize normal gait in order to understand human locomotion to identify impairments and functional limitations that contribute to disability during locomotion [3], and evaluate the outcome of interventions and rehabilitation procedures [4]. Clinical gait analysis can then be further defined as the process of recording and interpreting biomechanical measurements of gait to understand the effects of disease and dysfunction [5].

Understanding the causes and effects of specific perturbations in one of the systems that control gait can be difficult, because for example, perturbations in the neural system may be partially compensated by other structures and alter function leading to new adaptations and changes that are evaluated through clinical gait analysis [6].

There are two main approaches to analyze gait, the cause-and-effect approach (topdown), and the inverse dynamics approach (bottom-top).



Cause-and-effect:

In the top-down approach, the control of gait may be described as follows [7]:

- 1. First, the sensorial information is processed, and commands are sent by the central nervous system.
- 2. Then, the signals are transmitted through the peripheral nervous system.
- 3. These signals cause contraction of the muscles, which generate forces.
- 4. Subsequently, the application of the forces on the bones generate moments across joints.
- 5. Then, these moments and forces are regulated according to skeletal segments' anthropometry.
- 6. Afterwards, movement of the limbs is produced.
- 7. Finally, ground reaction forces are generated.

Inverse dynamics

In this approach, the control of gait is examined from bottom to top. First, data such as ground reaction forces, joint angles, among other information is collected with gait monitoring systems, such as wearable sensors, vision system setups, force plates, or combinations of them. Then, dynamic formulations are used to determine reaction forces transmitted between segments and the net moments-of-force resulting from muscle activity [8].

With all this in mind, it is clear that through gait analysis, it is possible to create diagnostic tools, to evaluate and improve rehabilitation procedures, and develop tools to monitor and quantify the evolution of gait of patients. Before achieving this, there is terminology that should be clear, starting with the gait cycle and its phases.

2.2.2 Gait cycle and its phases

The gait cycle starts from the instant where one foot makes contact with the ground and ends when the same foot makes contact again with the ground [1]. Most frequently, the gait cycle is divided into two periods:

• The stance period, in which the foot is in contact with the ground,

• The swing period, in which the same foot is in the air.

Additionally, during the stance period, there is a period of time in which only one foot is on the ground (single support), and also a period of time where both feet are in contact with the ground, which is called the double support period.

Then, these periods are divided into phases. For example, from the approach of Rose & Gamble [1], [9], the gait cycle is shown in Figure 2.1, and it is also divided into the following phases:

- 1. **Initial contact** (0% 2% of the gait cycle): Initial contact, as its name states, is the phase where the heel makes the first contact with the ground. It is the beginning of the stance period and the first part of the initial double support period.
- 2. **Loading response** (2% 12% of the gait cycle): Is the rest of the initial double support period. During this phase, the weight acceptance is completed.
- 3. **Midstance** (12% 31% of the gait cycle): This is the first part of the single support period. The end of this phase is distinguished by the occurrence of the "valley" or the local minimum of the vertical ground reaction force.
- 4. **Terminal stance** (31% 50% of the gait cycle): This is the second part of the singleleg support period. The center of gravity "falls" from its highest point and potential energy transfers to kinetic energy.
- 5. **Pre-swing** (50% 60% of the gait cycle): In this phase, the terminal double support occurs and it is our second loading period. In terms of the vertical ground reaction force, we have the occurrence of the second loading peak.
- 6. **Initial swing** (60% 73% of the gait cycle): This is the first part of the swing period, where the foot leaves the ground and flexes the entire leg.
- 7. **Midswing** (74% 87% of the gait cycle). This is the second part of the swing period, where the opposite foot leg is in single support with a small base of support.
- 8. **Terminal swing** (85% 100% of the gait cycle). This is the third and last part of the swing, and ends when the foot enters again the initial contact phase.



Figure 2.1. Gait cycle and its phases. (Image from C. Kirtley [11]).

The periods and gait phases described above are used to analyze gait and are important flags to observe. The gait phases are evaluated with different measures, most commonly, the spatio temporal parameters of gait.

2.2.3 Spatio Temporal parameters of gait

In table 2.1, some parameters and their definitions are shown [1]:

Table 2.1

Spatio-temp	oral parame	ters of gait
opano tomp	oral paranto	coro or gait

Parameter	Definition	
Step length	The distance between the point of initial contact of the	
	ipsilateral foot and the point of initial contact of the	
	contralateral foot.	
Stride length	The distance between successive ground contacts of	
	the same foot.	
Stride time	The time elapsed between foot contact of a leg to the	
	following foot contact of the same leg (Gait cycle	
	duration).	
Cadence	The rate of change in distance with respect to time.	
Gait speed	This is defined as the rate of change in distance with	
	respect to time (speed = distance/time).	



Step widthThe distance between the centers of the feet during
double support when both feet are in contact with the
ground.

There are other gait parameters regarding to the joints of the lower limb, some of them can be extracted directly from GRF data, inertial measurements, vision systems, or combinations of the previously mentioned. Nevertheless, the gait applications presented on this work are not based on spatio-temporal parameters, though, they are very important concepts on the field that we should know.

The work developed on this thesis project, is focused on the monitoring of the ground reaction forces, on the section below, the behavior of these forces during gait is described.

2.3 GROUND REACTION FORCE ON GAIT

As we know, according to Newton's third law, any applied force results in a reaction of equal magnitude and opposite direction. The GRF is exerted by the ground on a body in contact with it. For instance, when a person is standing still, the GRF's magnitude is equal to the body weight of the individual, and the direction of the GRF is perpendicular to the ground. However, when the individual is walking, the GRF increase or decrease due to acceleration forces. The GRF has three components (Figure 2.2):

- Two horizontal components, which are produced due to friction between the foot and the ground, also called shear forces. The shear force that acts anteriorly on the ground produces a posterior reaction (Anterior-Posterior shear (F_x)) and the shear force that acts medially produces a lateral reaction (Medial-Lateral shear (F_y)).
- One vertical component, which acts perpendicularly to the ground (F_z) .



Figure 2.2. Components of GRF vector (Image modified from [11]).

During normal gait, the three components of the GRFs behave as shown in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3. Behavior of GRF vector on a gait cycle (Image from Stergiou [1]).

It can be observed that the medial-lateral and anterior-posterior forces can be 10 or 5 times smaller than the vertical force. This, of course does not diminish the contribution of those components to the gait analysis. Traditionally, the medial-lateral and anterior-posterior forces were only detected on force plates systems, nowadays, we can find some wearable sensors that can detect them. For this work, we will focus on the vertical component of the GRF. The vertical component can give us important data, such as critical points to identify the gait phases (Figure 2.4). Notice what happens in each of the time periods A to E:

- A. During initial double support, the force quickly rises as weight is transferred from the contralateral limb.
- B. The force rises above resting body weight in early stance.
- C. The force falls below resting body weight during mid-stance.
- D. The force rises above resting body weight once again in late stance.



- E. During terminal double support, the force quickly falls as weight is transferred to the contralateral limb.
- F. Swing phase: the foot is off the ground so there is no ground reaction force.



Figure 2.4. Critical points of the vertical component of the GRF (Image from C. Kirtley [11]).

Giakas and Baltzopoulos measured and presented normative ranges for the mean and the standard deviation of the critical points of the GRF (in percentage body weight), along with the time (in percentage gait cycle) at which the peak occurs. The results obtained by these researchers are shown in Table 2.2 [10].

Т	ab	le	2.2
	av	16	Z.

Normative ranges for the peak forces of critical points of GRF

Force	Mean $\pm 1 \sigma$	Time (% cycle)	Mean ± 1 σ
FB	117 ± 9	Тв	23 ± 2
Fc	75 ± 6	Tc	48 ± 3
Fo	109 ± 5	FD	76 ± 2

The normative ranges provided by Giakas & Baltzopoulos [10] could help as a reference of what to expect when monitoring GRF during normal gait. However, if we try to consider it as a standard to determine normal and abnormal measurements we could incur into false positive or false negative mistakes. Before defining normative ranges, we must ensure that our monitoring systems are accurate and precise. Furthermore, we should carefully design methodologies that minimize the inherent variability of gait (age, gait speed, etc.). We will talk about that on sections 2.5 and 2.6, also on chapters 4 and 6,



where the contributions we made on this work to minimize variability on our experiments are described.

Now, let us review how the GRF distributes along the foot.

2.4 PLANTAR PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION

In general, how the load distribute depends on the foot structure and some gait parameters. For instance, heel pressure is affected by heel-strike velocity, longitudinal arch structure, thickness of the heel pad and age. Midfoot pressure is determined by arch structure, while metatarsal head pressure is mainly affected by talocrural joint motion and the gastrocnemius' muscle activity [11], [12]. In Figure 2.5, the plantar pressure distribution behavior during normal gait is shown, as presented by measurements of Novel GmbH [11].



Figure 2.5. Plantar pressure distribution during normal gait (Image from C. Kirtley [11]).

The graph of Figure 2.5 serves as a good reference to recognize where the maximum pressure is applied during normal gait, which could be useful to identify pressure anomalies during each gait phase.

Mueller and Maluf identified basic tissue responses to increased pressure: atrophy, hypertrophy (callus formation), injury (ulcer formation), death (necrosis) [13].

Moreover, injury can occur due to exposure of extremely high pressures resulting from trauma, and repetitive pressures of moderate magnitude repeated thousands of times (i.e.



such as might come from walking) [14]. The monitoring of the foot pressures is often studied on patients who suffer of diabetic neuropathy; the patient feet may lose sensitivity to plantar pressures, and if pathological plantar pressure distribution patterns persist during long periods, the patient feet may suffer from injuries.

Moving on, another parameter that is often studied in clinical gait analysis is the center of pressure, which is the mean of all the pressure applied to the sole of the foot. The trajectory of the center of pressure during normal gait is shown in Figure 2.6, [11].



Figure 2.6. Pathway of center of pressure in normal gait (Image from C. Kirtley [11]).

During the stance period, the center of pressure moves from the lateral border of the heel at initial contact, along the foot to the big toe (hallux) at toe-off. The center of pressure can be used to study postural stability, and thus, to potentially detect motor dysfunctions.

Now that the variables that we will be measuring with the monitoring system were presented, we will talk about some considerations that we should make when taking measurements for gait analysis.

2.5 MEASUREMENT THEORY

To develop accurate monitoring systems and analyzing gait with them, it will be necessary to make a lot of measurements and interpret them. However, to reach the correct conclusions about our system, or about the measurements taken with it, we need to remember some basic concepts.

First of all, we should recognize how the measurements are distributed. According to [11], it is safe to assume that gait measurements are normally distributed. The most important



parameters for a normal distribution are the mean and the standard deviation. The mean is the sum of all the measurements divided by number of measurements:

$$\overline{\mathbf{X}} = \frac{\sum \mathbf{X}}{\mathbf{n}} \tag{2.1}$$

The mean gives a good estimate of the tendency of the value we are trying to obtain with the experiment; however, it is not enough information to describe the experiment. There is also the spread of the measurements' distribution, which indicates how much confidence should be placed in the estimated mean value. This spread is called the standard deviation (σ). The standard deviation is calculated with the Equation 2.2.

$$\sigma = \frac{\sqrt{\sum |\mathbf{x} \cdot \bar{\mathbf{x}}|^2}}{n} \tag{2.2}$$

The standard deviation represents the statistical uncertainty of a measurement, we should remember that the σ is a combination of mainly two factors:

- ✓ Variation in the quantity being measured (time, force, cadence, etc.).
- ✓ Variation or imprecision in the instrument.

In practice, almost all gait measurements are affected by these two factors, so it is important to understand the σ and its possible causes. Now that we understand the mean and the standard deviation, let us take a look at the normal distribution (Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.7. Normal distribution (Image from C. Kirtley [11]).

At the middle of the normal distribution, the mean can be found. Then, the 67% of all the measurements fall within $\pm 1 \sigma$ of the mean, 95% fall within $\pm 2 \sigma$, and 99.7% within $\pm 3 \sigma$ (Figure 2.7), the measurements that fall outside the σ ranges are considered abnormal.



Nevertheless, defining a normative range it's not straightforward. If we use a $\pm 1 \sigma$ for our normative ranges, and a measurement falls outside these limits, it could still be normal, but with a high or low deviation to the mean due to natural biological variation or instrument imprecision; classifying such a result as abnormal would constitute making what is known as a false positive mistake. On the other hand, if we make normative ranges based on mean ± 2 or 3 σ , some abnormal measurements could fall inside the limits and would be considered normal, which results on a mistake known as a false negative.

Gait measurements often have large standard deviations due to the two sources of variability (biological and instrument), and as of this time, this problem remains unsolved, and most gait laboratories routinely use normative ranges based on mean $\pm 1 \sigma$, which is unsatisfactory. Contributions to the data collection procedures and improvements on measurement system may improve the variability problem, which would significantly reduce the probability of false negative mistakes, and the normative ranges could be tightened [11].

Finally, it is often desirable to compare the σ of different types of measurements, which makes no sense if the means of each measurement are different (because the size of the σ is often related to the size of the mean) [11]. To get around this, another measure is commonly used, the so-called the coefficient of variation.

The coefficient of variation is the ratio of the standard deviation to the mean, expressed as a percentage:

$$CV(\%) = \frac{100\sigma}{\overline{X}}$$
(2.3)

Now that we understand that every measurement is uncertain to some extent. We can classify these uncertainties, or errors, into two kinds: random and systematic.

Random Error

Random errors may occur due to imprecisions in the measurements' tools, inconsistencies in experimenter measurements, or due to differences between the participants of the experiment, the surroundings, or the experimental procedures.

Chapter 2: Theoretical Framework



However, if the experimenter is trained, and designs adequately the experimental procedures, the random error could be minimized to the imprecisions of the instrument, which depends on its quality, and of course also due to the inherent variability between participants of the experiment. To estimate the 'correct' value for the measurement of an experiment, we calculate the average or mean. The silver lining of the random error is that, though it adds variability to the data (increasing the spread of the distribution), it does not affect the mean (Figure 2.8a), because each measurement is just as likely to be lower or higher to the mean.

Unfortunately, there is another type of error: systematic error (Figure 2.8b), which causes the mean to deviate from its true value, introducing a bias into the measurement.





Systematic error

The systematic error is usually a much more difficult error to deal with, because it can't be removed by averaging. The only solution would be to estimate the bias and subtract it from all the measurements. There are many examples of systematic errors in gait measurements, sometimes they can be reduced or eliminated by careful design of equipment, but some errors remain and many researchers are working to try to tackle them [11].

In the following section, some examples of relevant gait variability are described and some solutions on how to minimize variability in gait experiments are mentioned.



2.6 VARIABILITY ON GAIT MEASUREMENTS

When measuring normal gait, at least two main sources of variability should be considered:

- Gait variability between individuals due to age, mood, among other physiological and psychological factors
- ✓ Variability due to imprecisions of the gait monitoring systems.

2.6.1 Gait variability

One of the factors that should be definitely considered when studying gait, is the walking speed. The walking speed affects the amplitude of the ground reaction forces significantly during the early and mid-phases of the stance period, as shown by Stansfield et al [11], [15].



Figure 2.9. Effect of speed on GRF (Image from C. Kirtley [11]).

Also, peak plantar pressures are generally increased with walking speed, especially under the heel, 1st metatarsal, lateral forefoot and hallux. On the other hand, pressure falls under lateral midfoot, and there is a tendency for loading to shift medially [16].

Among some aspects that affect the walking speed of the individuals is the age, where the mean walking speed decreases as age increases. Also, mood affects the walking speed. Sloman et al. found, that mood not only affects the walking speed but also generates fluctuations in the GRF, as they measured that depressed people seem to have



a less pronounced M-shape on their GRF profiles. This is caused due to low acceleration forces generated by the individuals while walking (less energetic gait) [17].

Other factors were inversely correlated with the amplitude of the GRF, for instance, the correlation coefficients (r) for mood, sleep disturbance and indecisiveness were r = -0.32, r = -0.46, and r = -0.38 respectively. Although the findings are likely due to the depressed subjects walking more slowly [18], they do reveal an interesting relationship between motion and emotion [11].

2.6.2 Sensor imprecisions

We already know that the monitoring systems may affect the variability on gait measurements. On Table 2.3, some inherent characteristics of sensors used for force/pressure monitoring that may affect on gait measurements are enlisted:

Parameter	Definition		
Accuracy	The maximum difference between the actual (known)		
	pressure (as measured by some gold standard		
	technique) and that measured by the sensor,		
	expressed as a percentage of the calibrated range of		
	the sensor.		
Linearity	The maximum discrepancy between sensor readings		
	from a straight line (linear regression).		
Hysteresis	The difference between the measured pressure during		
	loading compared to that measured during unloading.		
Creep or Drift	The tendency of a sensor reading to gradually change		
	over time when a constant load is applied.		
Dynamic	The ability of the sensor to respond to rapid changes		
response	in loading (i.e., when initial contact occurs).		
Curvature	The effect of bending of the sensors on the		
artefacts	measurements (artefacts).		

Table 2.3

Parameters used to characterize sensor's performance



Crosstalk	The effect that a load applied to one sensor affects the
	readings from those adjacent to it.
Temperature	The effect of temperature on the sensor's response

These characteristics affect differently the sensors depending on the technology they are based (resistive, capacitive, piezo-electric, piezo-resistive, optical, etc.). Undoubtedly, a proper sensor characterization is the key to minimize both random and systematic errors from the sensor systems.

On the following section, a brief description of the contribution of this work to address this variability is presented, including the references to the chapters where the contributions are described.

2.6.3 Minimizing variability

When analyzing gait, what we want is to be able to effectively identify abnormal measurements. Previously in Section 2.5, it was mentioned that defining normative ranges is a difficult task to perform. This is due to the variability of the gait measurements because of the inherent variability of gait, acquisition methodologies, and the monitoring instruments which add both bias and spread to the measurements. Classifying in such conditions may incur in many false positive and false negative mistakes, which is naturally unacceptable for clinical applications.

To define more robust normative ranges, we must minimize all sources of variability, in this project, we have addressed this with the following contributions:

- ✓ Monitoring system (Chapter 4):
 - Considerations on the design of sensor array to avoid mechanical error, and possible sensor bending.
 - Development of a self-calibrating algorithm that optimizes the sensor resolution depending on the user's weight.
 - Extensive in-shoe characterization, which compensates the inherent variability that the footwear contributes to the measurements.
- ✓ Gait acquisition and methodology (Chapter 6):



- Proposition of a gait acquisition methodology that minimizes variability regarding walking speed without interfering with the natural gait of the participants.
- ✓ Data preprocessing (Chapter 6):
 - Development of a gait preprocessing pipeline that automatically removes the first and last step of the gait (which have different acceleration forces compared to the average step of the gait), and segments the relevant steps for further analysis.

Additionally, for every study, the participants must fulfill requirements in age, weight, height ranges, among other factors that may increase variability in measurements.

2.7 CONCLUSION OF THE CHAPTER

On this chapter, the core concepts needed to understand the contributions made on this thesis project were presented. First, a definition of gait was stated, followed by a definition of gait analysis, highlighting its main objectives, and describing the approaches used on gait analysis. Furthermore, the gait cycle and its phases were described. These phases are often used to obtain spatio-temporal parameters of gait , which are used to characterize normal and pathological gait. Afterwards, measurement theory was presented to understand the variability found when measuring gait. Finally, the two main sources of variability on gait measurements were presented, as well as a small discussion of how the variability may be minimized.

CHAPTER 3: STATE OF THE ART

3.1 INTRODUCTION

In this chapter, a part of the history of the development of gait monitoring systems (GMS) is presented, the history presented in this chapter is mainly focused on ground reaction force (GRF) and plantar pressure distribution (PPD) monitoring systems. Then, a classification of the GMS is presented, the main strengths and weaknesses of current approaches are highlighted, at the end of this section, we discuss about the main applications where the strengths of current approaches may be better exploited.

Then, divided in two main sections, relevant literature about the gait is presented. The first section talks about the development of wearable GMS. In this section a brief description of commercial systems is presented, and then, the section heavily discusses academic systems, focusing on their sensor configurations, characterization and calibration, among other aspects. The second section talks about the applications of gait analysis. In this section, the sensor data needed to achieve the application and the methodology to analyze gait are discussed. Afterwards, gait analysis methodologies based on machine learning technologies are discussed.

By the end of this chapter, the reader will be acquainted with the main groups of GMSs, also the reader will know the main milestones achieved by the wearable GMS and the current goals of research of gait monitoring and analysis.



3.2 HISTORY OF GAIT MONITORING AND ANALYSIS

The following history is a synthesis of Prof. Richard Baker's 2007's article titled: *The history of gait analysis before the advent of modern computers* [19].

It has been found that the first reference of gait analysis was written by the philosopher Aristotle (384–322 BCE) on his work *Aristotle: parts of animals, movement of animals, progression of animals.* One of his propositions was that, when walking, the human head moved slightly down when he bends and goes higher when he stands upright and raises, producing zig-zag motion. This particular idea is correct, however most of his propositions were wrong because they were only theorized but never were tested by experiments.

Mathematical contributions were made in Europe by Girolamo Cardan (1501 - 1576) between 1533 to 1552, with his study of the properties of three-dimensional angles. Between 1564-1642, Galileo Galilei (1564 – 1642) contributed not directly to gait itself, but with its deductive and experimental methodologies in physiology. Rene Descartes (1596 – 1650) on his physiology textbook "De Homine" published on 1662, theorized about closed loop motor control, in which he showed that the limbs were controlled by muscular activity influenced by the nervous system and feedback was provided by the eyes.

Between 1608-1679, one of Galileo's pupils, Giovanni Borelli (1608 – 1679) performed the first experiment in gait analysis, in which he deduced that there was mediolateral movement of the head during walking. Other contributions by Borelli were his studies of the muscle's biomechanics. Despite his advances, he made some mistakes in the physical laws that governed forces, which were formulated properly 9 years after Borelli's death by Isaac Newton (1642 – 1727) in his *Principia Mathematica*.

Then during the 18th and 19th century a series of physiologists made some observations on walking. However, there were two main reasons why their contributions achieved little progress. The first reason was the same mistake as Aristotle did, they did not experiment to corroborate their theories. The second reason was that the authors either had knowledge about mechanics or physiology, but not both.

The next major contribution was made by the Weber brothers (1795 – 1891), who addressed both the physical and physiological backgrounds. In 1836, they published their work *Mechanik der Gehwerkzeuge (Mechanics of the Human Walking Apparatus)* in which they experimented with a stop watch, measuring tape, and a telescope, to draw



conclusions about the change of step length and cadence with the walking speed. They also attempted to determine the position of the limbs at 14 instants of the gait cycle, these however, were based mainly on conjecture. For instance, an incorrect conclusion was that the knee is in a considerable degree of flexion at the end of the swing phase, which then was correctly refuted by the physician Guillaume Duchenne (1806 – 1875).

Duchenne was a pioneer of electrophysiology and also made some studies of human movement, he described and located the origin of some lower limb affections, for example the one named after him, the Duchenne muscular dystrophy, also described the Duchenne gait pattern, in which the pelvis raised on the side of the swing limb and there is increased abduction at the stance side hip as a compensation for the absence of functional hip abductors. In 1895, the German surgeon Friederich Trendelenburg (1844 - 1924) also described the Trendelenburg gait pattern, in which the pelvis drops on the swing and there is increased adduction during stance as a compensation for weak abductors.

The next major contributions on human movement were made on the time of the physiologist Étienne-Jules Marey (1830 - 1904). He collaborated with his student Gaston Carlet (1849 - 1892), Carlet developed a sensor footwear with three pressure transducers. He was the first to record and publish the double bump of the ground reaction force. This and other experimental techniques were published in his thesis in 1872, were he concludes with a description of the normal human gait cycle.

Other contributions to gait monitoring by Marey were achieved from the study of horse's gait. At the time, there was a debate about whether or not there is an instant during the horse's trot when all four hooves are off the ground. Marey adapted the Carlet's sensor footwear for horses and demonstrated without a doubt that there is clearly a moment when any hoof is in contact with the ground. This was in Europe, at the same period of time, the photographer Edward Muybridge (1830 – 1904) reached the same conclusion in America with a different gait analysis methodology. Muybridge was aware of Marey's work and planned to take a series of images of the whole trot. He used a battery of cameras triggered in succession. The pictures were published in *Scientific American* in 1878 and a year later in the French journal *La Nature*, which attracted Marey's interest.

Marey recognized some limitations of the Muybridge's technique, for example, that this series of images were taken from slightly different angles, which prevented to achieve useful scientific measurements. Therefore, Marey developed the chronophotograph,



which enabled several different images to be captured on the same photographic plate. However, this device had also a limitation, the images overlapped and the measurements were still difficult. Marey and his student Georges Demeny (1850 – 1918) developed techniques involving different types of markers, which resulted on a methodology from which they could obtain meaningful measurements. Marey continued to refine his technique and used it to study pathological walking. Marey's work is comprehensively described by Prof. Marta Braun in her work *Picturing Time: The work of Etienne-Jules Marey*.

Around the same period of time, the mathematician Otto Fischer (1861 - 1917) was the first to conduct a three-dimensional gait analysis. He developed an experimental suit in which Geissler tubes strapped were strapped to the joints. During the experiments the subject walked in the night with the suit, the lights on the suit flashed at some frequency, and with a carefully calibrated photographic setup, Fischer captured the subject's gait. Then, points were measured on the images from each of the cameras on the respective side of the subject and a full three-dimensional reconstruction of the true position of the point calculated, and the joint centers were calculated and using a full inverse dynamics approach, he was able to calculate the joint moments for the lower limb joints during the swing phase of the gait.

The methodologies of Fischer remained as the definitive work on kinematics for several decades, but the development of force plates emerged to enable kinetic measurements. Marey and Carlet had developed a pneumatic system to measure in-shoe pressures. And using the same technology Demeny and Marey created a pneumatic force plate, which they used to investigate the energetics of gait. However, Demeny's plate only measured the vertical component. Jules Amar was the first to develop a three-component force plate. Purely mechanical force plates were developed by Wallace Fenn and Elftman in 1930 and 1938 respectively. And in the late 40's, the engineers Cunningham and Brown developed a six-component force plate using strain gauges. It was until 1969, when the first commercially available force plates were designed for biomechanics. They were made of piezoresistive technology by Kistler, and the first commercial force plates that used strain gauges were available in the early 1970s.

Other advances were made at the Biomechanics Lab at the University of California at Berkeley, where a team of 40 scientists and the Committee on Prosthetic Devices was assembled after the second world war to rehabilitee those injured at the war. The team



was headed by Verne T. Inman (1905–1980), and Howard D. Eberhart (1906–1993). Their work is documented in the book *Human Limbs and their Substitutes*. The group started with a study of normal locomotion using cine photography and light interrupted photography techniques. This study was based on the principle that understanding the normal gait was a prerequisite of a study of amputee gait. As a consequence of this decision, their work was applicable to many other fields. However, to analyze a single stride, they needed over 14,000 calculations performed by hand, which at first required over 500 man-hours. And so, one of the greatest challenges to establish gait analysis as a clinical tool was to reduce the time of processing, which of course the advances of computers had the biggest impact.

Other advances on gait analysis were achieved through the developments based on the Berkeley's techniques. For instance, the study of gait on 60 normal men conducted by Murray, their conclusion about the relation between the age and height and the variability in gait patterns in adults is still regarded as the definitive work in the subject.

Later on, the development of clinical gait analysis was driven by Richard Sutherland and Jacquelin Perry. They used electromyography to study the gait. During the 1960s and 70s, electromyography took an important role in clinical gait analysis. However, both Perry and Sutherland recognized that it was not enough. Perry complemented the studies using instrumented methods for measuring temporal-spatial parameters.

Some of the final major contributions on the pre-computer era, were the studies made by Larry Lamoreux, who fixed electrogoniometers to a metal exoskeletal frame to measure three-dimensional angles at the hip, and one-dimensional angles at the knee and ankle. But even by the end of the 70s, instrumented gait analysis was still mostly being a research tool as equipment was generally cumbersome and time-consuming to use.

3.3 THE GAIT MONITORING SYSTEM CLASSIFICATION

There are several techniques used in gait analysis. These techniques use technologies such as motion capture cameras, optoelectronic systems, inertial systems, electro goniometers, pressure mats, in-shoe force/pressure sensors, force plate mechanisms, electromyography, among others [20]. However, three types of systems are the most used: Platform systems (force plate mechanisms/pressure mats), Vision systems (motion capture cameras), and wearable systems (in-shoe sensors/inertial sensors).


3.3.1 Platform systems

There are two main types of platform systems, fixed force sensing platforms, and portable force/pressure sensing mats.

Force plates

The force platforms often use metal plates with load cells attached to each corner. This mechanism is used to measure the GRF vector caused by the user standing or moving on the platform. Force plate mechanisms can accurately measure the three components of the ground reaction force induced on the plates. Also, as the force plates are placed on a fixed location on the ground, the center of pressure of the subject body can easily be calculated [20].

The main advantage of the force plates is their accuracy on 3D GRF measurements, which can be used alone to identify pathologic GRF patterns. However, data captured from foot plates is often combined with limbs kinematics data from other sensors. The main issue of the force plates is that they are fixed on the ground and their cost, which reduce its use to biomechanics laboratories.

Pressure mats

Gait mats are instrumented carpets with force or pressure sensors. The pressure mats are almost similar to the force plates, but cheaper and not as accurate as force plates, however, pressure mats often measure only the vertical component of the GRF. The characteristics of the mat such as pressure range, sensitivity, and linearity are defined by the technology of the sensors they use (resistive, capacitive, or piezoelectric, piezoresistive, etc.). The geometry of the mat is rectangular, and the length of the mat may have different sizes from less than a meter (to measure one footstep) to several meters to measure walk sessions.

These systems provide better portability than the force plates at a lower cost but also with lower resolution. Most importantly, the pressure mats provide reliable data about foot contact, step and stride length, and plantar pressure distribution.



3.3.2 Vision systems

One of the most used techniques in gait analysis are the motion capture cameras. Many research groups have developed strategies to characterize gait, to develop clinical studies or create gait recognition applications. Some features than can be extracted from motion capture systems are joint positions, joint motion trajectories, joint angles, among others. Gait can be analyzed with or without markers attached to the body. For 2D analysis of gait, a single camera is placed parallel to the user's plane of motion, and for 3D analysis, a complex setup of cameras is needed. Then, sensor fusion and artificial vision processing techniques are used to obtain accurate kinematic and dynamic analysis of gait.

The main advantage of these systems is their accuracy, and the capabilities to extract several gait parameters from the sensor fusion. However, with great power come other limitations, such as the cost of the equipment, the need of very controlled environments (light, focal distance, etc.), also, if markers are used, the technicians need time to place all the markers, and even so, measurement errors may occur if skin artifacts occur due to slippage of the markers. Motion capture systems are powerful tools for gait analysis, however some of their limitations restrict their usage to only gait laboratories.

3.3.3 Wearable systems

Finally, the third most common type of gait monitoring systems are the wearable sensors, the most common types of technologies found in the literature are: inertial based wearables, and sensor footwear/insoles.

Inertial systems

Inertial systems integrate accelerometers and gyroscopes to provide acceleration and orientation data for gait analysis, for instance, segment acceleration, segment orientation, and joint position [21]. The sensors are small, lightweight, and their detection capabilities are enough to monitor the angular velocity and accelerations during gait.



The major advantages of inertial wearable systems are their portability, and the capability to extract several gait parameters from their data. Some limitations are that the sensors must be attached to the body, which sometimes may be uncomfortable. Also, if skin movement artifacts occur, the data can be affected significantly.

Sensor Footwear

In-shoe systems are often found into two types, the first type consists of sensor insoles that are embedded on any shoe. The second type are modified footwear, with sensors integrated to it. The most used sensors on in-shoe wearables are force and pressure sensors, but sometimes, some gyroscopes and accelerometers are also integrated to the shoes. Sensor footwear are used to obtain the vertical component of the GRF, or the plantar pressure distribution, which can be used to characterize the load/pressure patterns of both healthy and pathologic gait. The characteristics of these devices vary from design to design, as multiple choices of sensor quantity, and type of technology are available, also calibration techniques, and general design of the sensor footwear affect its performance.

The advantages of sensor footwear are its high versatility of design and cost and great portability that enables analysis during daily life activities. Some limitations are that they often only measure the vertical component of the GRF. This often leads to the need of combining with limbs kinematic data from inertial systems for complex gait analysis.

3.3.4 Discussion

In the early studies about gait monitoring, force plates were the main gait recording tool, their high spatial resolution and accurate GRF measurements have been their main advantages [22]. Also, vision systems provide accurate gait analysis. During the last decade, great advances on vision systems have been driven by the advances on computer's hardware and machine learning algorithms [23]–[26].



Today, motion capture systems and force plates are the most used technologies on gait analysis. Both technologies achieve high accuracy on their respective areas, vision systems on kinematic measurements, and force plates on kinetic measurements.

However, both force plates and vision systems have two main limitations, which some research groups are trying to tackle with the development of accurate and portable wearable technologies. A comparison of some aspects of the discussed technologies can be observed on Table 3.1 (extracted and modified from Chen [21]).

Instrument	Motion capture	Force plate	Wearable:	Wearable:
instrument	system	system	Inertial sensor	Footwear
Measures	Kinematic	Kinetic	Kinematic	Kinetic
	measurements	measurements	measurements	measurements
System Cost	> \$30,000	\$200 - \$30,000	< \$2000	< \$3000
(USD)				
	Requires pre-	Requires pre-	Often need	
	installation and	installation.	strapped-on	Easy to wear
Practicality	expert	Fixed to the	electronics	
	operation	ground.		
Accuracy and			Sensor and	Sensor and
Precision	High	High	algorithm	algorithm
			dependent	dependent
Continuous	Less than 10	Less than 10	>2 Hours	>2 Hours
monitoring	minutes	minutes		
Computation cost	High	Low	Low	Low

Quantitative systems for gait analysis

Table 3.1

The first thing that we may notice is that wearable technologies, inertial and sensor footwear, can be used to obtain the gait parameters offered by vision systems and force plates, respectively. The difference in cost between the technologies could alone justify focusing on the development of better sensors, calibrations procedures, and algorithms to achieve wearable systems with the same precision and accuracy as the vision and force plate systems. The cost is an important aspect, but a matter of greater importance to some researchers is the practicality, both vision systems and force plates require to be



pre-installed in the room where they will operate, which restricts its usage to gait analysis laboratories.

One of the most important features that the wearable technologies contribute to the gait analysis, is that they enable real time applications on daily life activities. As we are most interested on making these technologies available for consulting and rehabilitation rooms, or for the average user, from now on, we will focus on the literature of wearable technologies for gait analysis, and mostly on sensor insoles and footwear.

3.4 STATE OF THE ART: WEARABLE SYSTEMS

Wearable sensors for gait monitoring are not new, one of the first devices to measure the pressure between the foot and the sole was developed by Carlet G. in 1872 [19], [27]. Then, in 1963, Bauman and Brand presented a technique to measure PPD using thin pressure transducers attached to the foot, this were connected to a box that contained the signal conditioning circuits, the box is attached on the user's waist, and then connected through a cable to the recording system [28]. Then, until the 90s decade, the first wireless in-shoe systems were developed [29]. However, the research of sensor insoles and footwear really started until the wireless technologies popularized. When the 21st century started, the field of wearable sensors for gait monitoring systems became available commercially, targeting gait laboratories and sport analysists.

3.4.1 Commercial systems

Commercial wearable systems often are integrated by sensor insoles, a wireless transmission and datalogger module, and monitoring software (depending on the features may cost extra).

On Table 3.2, some of the commercially available systems for PPD monitoring are shown [30], [31].



Svetom	Sensing	Number of	Sampling	
System	Technology	sensors	rate	Communication
Pedar [32]	Capacitive	85 - 99	0 – 100 Hz	USB/ SD card/
				Bluetooth
F-Scan [33]	Resistive	960	0 – 750 Hz	USB/ datalogger/
				Wi-Fi
medilogic WLAN	Resistive	240	100 – 400 Hz	Wi-Fi
insole [34]				
BioFoot[35]	Piezoelectric	64	50 – 250 Hz	Wireless
FlexinFit[36]	Resistive	214	2 <mark>5 – 50 Hz</mark>	Bluetooth
W-inshoe [37]	Resistive	9	100 Hz	Bluetooth

Commercial wearable systems for PPD monitoring

Commercial systems use various types of sensor technology, and number of sensors, ranging from 9 to almost 1000 sensors, sampled from 25 to 750 Hz (tethered or datalogger). A large number of sensors and high sampling rates of course offer insightful gait analysis, however, Munoz-Organero et al. have demonstrated that with a small number of sensors (4 sensors), gait assessment can be done, thus reducing the device's cost [38]. Naturally, the number of sensors and their positions may vary depending on the application, or a specific pathology, but with the optimization in mind, a large number of sensors may seem inefficient, not to mention that some commercial systems can cost up to \$5000 USD.

Another limitation of commercial systems is that most of them have bulky electronics strapped-on to the waist or leg, which may affect the natural gait of the user. Even so, as these commercial systems are designed for research rather than real life applications, its use is not ideal outside of research facilities.

The above limitations have led several research groups to create their own gait monitoring systems, focusing on developing portable, low cost and energy efficient devices, as well as improving measurement accuracy and precision.



3.4.2 Academic Systems

The need for monitoring the load between shoe and foot for clinical applications has driven researchers to develop wearable PPD monitoring technologies which allow acquiring PPD in real life activities. In the quest of a cost-precision tradeoff, over the last decade, researchers have been developing wearable in-shoe systems addressing precision [39], energy consumption [40], [41] portability [42], among other issues leading to a wide variety of monitoring systems varying in quantity, technology and sensor positioning.

Sensor quantity and sensor positioning may vary regarding a specific pathology or application. For instance, with just three force sensors and a gyroscope, an application for the primary gait phase detection has been demonstrated by Passas *et al.* [43]; on diabetic neuropathy patients, heel, toe and metatarsal heads are monitored to prevent ulceration produced by hyper pressure [31]; also with two force sensors, one on the first metatarsal head and the other on the external middle foot zone, the gait variability was measured to monitor post-stroke patients by Muñoz-Organero *et al.*[38]; a sensing insole with eight pressure sensors was used to identify walking strategies developed due to mild pain on knee osteoarthritis patients [44], and many other applications can be found on wearable PPD monitoring literature. Heel, metatarsals and toe are common sensing zones monitored by almost any application. Claverie *et al.* studied and determined 12 optimal zones to obtain an accurate discrete plantar pressure distribution [45].

In-shoe force/pressure sensors are capacitive [46], [47], piezoelectric [42], [48], optical [49], [50], among other types of sensing technologies. One of the most used sensor technologies on PPD monitoring are the resistive technologies [30], [41], [51]–[53]. Force sensing resistors (FSRs) are an effective cost-precision solution in force measurement. FSRs change its resistance when an external force is applied on them, it is worth mentioning that the resistance change is non-linear. Signal conditioning is needed to transform resistance changes into a variable that a microcontroller can read. An easy, but rather inadequate solution are the voltage dividers, which reflect the sensors non-linearity on the voltage signal. Abdelhady *et al.* utilized a transfrequency conditioning circuit to linearize the response of the FSRs [51], however, the circuit is supplied with 15 V which results in bulky electronics affecting the naturality of gait. Solutions based on operational

Chapter 3: State of the Art



amplifiers like the non-inverted amplifier configuration reduce the sensor's non-linearity, though the range of force measurement must be carefully chosen to obtain exact and precise force values. A dynamical self-adaptive signal conditioning circuit allows to maximize the sensing resolution for every individual, which is a feature that has not been reported on quantitative PPD literature.

Before we review the contributions of the sensor footwear presented on the literature, we must recognize and separate two main types of applications in which sensor footwear are implemented. Applications that rely on quantitative analysis, and applications that rely on gait-phase transitions or activity detection.

Accuracy and precision

For quantitative analysis, a key aspect of sensor footwear is its sensors' characterization and calibration, which, is rarely mentioned, and when sensor characterization is reported, it is vague; for example, Lin et al. [42] developed a 48 piezoresistive sensor insole, but no calibration data for the pressure sensors was presented, Abdelhady et al. [51] applied masses from 0.1 to 10 Kg to obtain a voltage vs weight curve, however, they do not state if the characterization is done to the sensors on or off their 3d-printed insole. Individual sensor calibration was reported with load cells outside the shoe by Bamberg et al. [53]. Orlin and McPoil presented a technique to calibrate sensor insoles [22], it consists on using an air bladder system to apply uniformly several known levels of pressure, they mention that this allows to effectively generate a calibration curve for a matrix of sensors. Also, sensing insole systems [42], [51], [53], which are designed to be used on any footwear, does not consider that every footwear alters the natural PPD due to the relief of the sole. In-shoe characterization allows compensating the variability on the response of the sensors due to the footwear, improving accuracy on GRF measurements. on applications in which quantitative PPD comparison between patients is needed, results would be affected mainly by two factors: firstly, when using sensor insoles on different shoes, the natural PPD of the individuals would be affected by different reliefs from their footwear, disabling objective comparison between measurements; and secondly, as every footwear have different sole material, relief, and thickness, the accuracy and variability of GRF measurements would be affected.



Now, that the key aspect of sensor footwear for quantitative analysis has been discussed, we can proceed to talk about the factors that are to be considered on both quantitative analysis applications, and gait-phase based applications.

Low cost and power consumption

The low cost of the sensor footwear devices is an import aspect to consider. As one of the main goals and objectives of wearable sensors is to provide monitoring on real life situations, the sensors must be accessible to any rehabilitation and consulting room, and if possible, to the public. For instance, Hua et al. [41] developed a low-cost power efficient sensor footwear with two pressure sensors and an accelerometer. This low-cost setup could be used for activity detection. Also, Wu et al. [40] developed a power efficient sensor insole, which can operate up to 11 hours of continual usage. They achieve this efficiency with low power components, and with local storage of the data, thus, saving power by not utilizing wireless transmitters.

Portability and social acceptance

Portability and social acceptance are also important factors of sensor footwear development. These aspects may not affect the accuracy of the device, but they play an important on role on how viable the wearable technologies are for real life applications. Some works that make a really good work on their designs are [40]–[42], which would allow the natural integration of these devices into the daily life.

In contrast, other devices are designed with cumbersome or bulky electronics that are difficult to integrate to the footwear [39], [49], [51], which need to strap-on some components to the body. This restricts its use on daily life applications.

A perfect wearable device must consider all of these aspects, they need good accuracy and precision, to produce reliable data for clinical ambulatory applications. The devices must be accessible, and also provide functionality for long hours, and finally, the



aesthetics and portability, it may not affect the quality of the measurements, but at the end, this factor will be the final judge of the viability of wearable sensors on the daily life.

3.5 STATE OF THE ART: GAIT ANALYSIS

Monitoring and analysis of the intensity of the ground reaction forces (GRFs) to which the human foot is subjected during real life activities such as gait, and how these loads are distributed along the foot (plantar pressure distribution) have been the object of study of research groups due to its role as an auxiliary diagnostic tool of diverse pathologies [54]–[57]. On gait analysis, gait parameters such as ground reaction force (GRF) [49], [58], [59], gait phase times [60], PPD patterns [44], [61], center of pressure [62], among many others are extracted [21], [63]. The monitoring of these parameters have proven useful for clinical studies in a wide variety of medical fields like rehabilitation of post-stroke patients [38], [64], knee pathologies [44], [65], [66], and post-surgery [67], on the study and monitoring of neurological diseases such as Parkinson's disease [41], [68] or cerebral palsy [52], in geriatrics ambulatory applications like fall risk assessment [69], [70], prevention of ulceration on diabetic foot [71], among many others.

As wearable gait monitoring systems continue to improve regarding cost, accuracy, portability, power consumption, comfortability, and social acceptance, more gait analysis applications are proposed.

3.5.1 Applications of gait analysis

On this section, some of the applications presented on the gait analysis literature are reviewed. An extensive recompilation and review of the gait analysis literature can be found on Chen's et al. article [21].

Rehabilitation



One of the most important applications of gait analysis is rehabilitation. As gait is highly correlated to the lower limbs biomechanics, the nervous system, and even the animic state of a person, gait analysis provides a tool to monitor the advance or recovery of many pathologies. Some examples of research works presented in this area are:

- Reed Gurchiek et al. presented an open source algorithm to analyze gait data from accelerometers and electromyography sensors to monitor and quantify the progress of patient rehabilitation after surgical reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament. Their approach is to measure gait asymmetries and use statistical methodologies to quantify the evolution of the patient's rehabilitation [67].
- Zexia He et al. developed a wearable sensor and used it to monitor the kinematic gait parameters to monitor the knee adduction moment (KAM) to assess rehabilitation of osteoarthritis patients [65].
- Nagaraj Hedge and collaborators developed a GRF monitoring sensor footwear and presented a machine learning based activity detection algorithm to monitor the evolution of gait on children with cerebral palsy [52].
- Simona Crea et al. presented a sensor footwear to rehabilitate lower-limb amputees. The device detects the gait phase transitions of the prosthetic leg, and depending on some parameters, some vibrating elements attached to the leg skin give feedback to correct the gait patterns [58].
- Post stroke rehabilitation is also a frequent gait analysis topic on the literature. For example, Fulk et al., have presented a gait activity recognition smartphone app, which quantifies the amount of time of daily activities. When the patient, spends too much time without performing physical activities, the app encourages the patient to walk, which is important to prevent further stroke episodes [64].

Plantar Pressure Assessment



Other applications of gait analysis include the monitoring and assessment of plantar pressure distribution patterns, the identification and rectification of pathologic PPD patterns is important to prevent skin injury, or foot injuries.

- Wafai et al. presented a methodology to quantify the asymmetry of plantar pressure loading on both feet to diagnose foot pathologies. The load is quantified in different zones of the foot, and depending on the load asymmetry patterns, a specific foot diagnose can be done [56].
- Craig Bennetts et al. presented a clinical study on 800 patients with diabetic feet, and applied a k-means clustering algorithm to identify common PPD patterns. After the clustering model is built, new patients can be classified into the identified patterns. The identification of hyper-pressure zones on diabetic feet is very important, when the patients suffer of peripheric neuropathy, because patients can not feel the pressure on the feet, so when, extreme pressures are applied repeatedly, it can cause ulcers or even necrosis [71].

Fall Risk Assessment

Fall risk assessment is an important application for the quality of life of the elder community. On the review presented by Luis Montesinos [69], several inertial systems and gait analysis methodologies are reviewed, which aim to monitor, assess and predict potential fall risk for elder adults. Sensor footwear has also been used to assess fall risk, using gait activity detection methodologies based on GRF data.

Other applications

Many other applications can be found on the gait analysis literature, such as the research of walking strategies of different pathologies, for instance osteoarthritis [44]. Also, to reduce costs when developing systems for specific applications, sensor optimization can be done through gait analysis, by identifying and removing the sensors that do not contribute too much to the analysis [38]. Additionally, the assessment of orthotics can also be done, by quantifying the change that these produce on the natural gait pattern of the user [66]. Among many other applications can be studied and developed with gait analysis. During the last decade, the implementation of machine learning techniques has



increased due to its high accuracy on classification tasks, such as individual recognition, or identification of pathological GRF patterns on gait [23], [72].

3.6 CONCLUSION OF THE CHAPTER

On this chapter, relevant literature regarding gait monitoring and analysis has been presented. First, a history of the gait monitoring and analysis was introduced (synthesized from Prof. Baker's article [19]). Then, a brief description and comparison of the main types of technologies used on gait analysis was presented. After stating our interest on wearable gait monitoring technologies, the state of the art of wearable sensors was presented, highlighting the contributions and limitations of the systems developed by the scientific community. Also, some real-life applications of gait analysis were described.

With the background presented on this chapter, the reader should be acquainted with some of the milestones and challenges on the field of GRF monitoring in gait with wearable systems, which will help the reader to understand the contributions of this thesis work.

CHAPTER 4:

DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF SENSOR FOOTWEAR

4.1 INTRODUCTION

In this chapter, the design, development and characterization of a self-calibrating sensor footwear is presented. The chapter is divided into three main sections:

- 1. On the first section, considerations on design and development of a sensor insole to avoid mechanical noise on force sensors are presented.
- 2. Then, on the second section, the electronic specifications proposed for a smart sensor footwear are described, prioritizing the achievement of a robust, power-efficient, wireless transmission system, while maintaining a small-sized electronic board. Also, a self-calibrating algorithm and hardware were implemented to dynamically adjust the force measurement range (FMR) depending on the weight of the user, thus, improving the resolution of the force measurements.
- 3. Finally, the integration of the sensor footwear is described. Also, as far as we know, as it has not been reported on the sensor footwear literature, the importance of inshoe characterization to achieve accurate plantar pressure distribution (PPD) measurements will be demonstrated, as high variability on the sensor response was found between sensors located on the same zones on left and right shoes. As well, high variability on the sensor response was found along the rearfoot, midfoot, and forefoot zones of the same shoe due to variations on the damping of the sole's material.



4.2 SENSOR INSOLE

The sensor insole is the main component of a wearable PPD wearable system. Insole base material, and wiring considerations are to be made to prevent mechanical noise on force measurements. Thin, flat, cotton lining insoles were selected for sensor placing due to their low deformation and force damping. The chosen insoles, which are shown on Figure 4.1, had small perforations, which facilitated the arrangement of wiring trajectories. The design and development of a sensor insole is described below.



Figure 4.1. Cotton lining insoles used for sensor placement.

4.2.1 Sensor selection and positioning

Sensor selection and positioning are determined by the aim and expected reach of the designed system. For example, it is common that devices used on biomechanical research applications have high spatial resolution, as monitoring systems with large matrix of sensors are employed. On the other hand, on academic clinical studies, the implementation of insoles with discrete sensors along the foot are the most usual configuration. The critical zones for plantar pressure monitoring vary on some applications, however, heel, metatarsal and toe prevail on almost every sensor insole configuration.

To develop a general-purpose sensor footwear, force sensors were positioned on all common sensing zones found on discrete PPD monitoring literature: two heel zones, four metatarsal zones, and on toe; also, four extra force sensors were positioned on midfoot zones to cover effectively every zone of the foot. This design covers most of the specific zones also used on any PPD monitoring application found on gait analysis literature. The



proposed sensor configuration is shown in Figure 4.2a, and the zones annotated in Figure 4.2b.



Figure 4.2. Sensor selection and positioning

- a) Eleven-sensor configuration for sensor insole.
- b) Name of the zones where the sensors were positioned.
- c) Flexiforce A301 sensor.

Sensor technology and brand naturally set a trade between cost and precision of the device. Force sensing resistors (FSRs) are an effective cost-precision solution in force measurement. FSRs change its resistance when an external force is applied on them, it is worth mentioning that the resistance change is non-linear. Non-linearity on the sensor response can be linearized through signal conditioning, which will be addressed later on this chapter. As for the force/pressure chosen sensor, the piezoresistive Flexiforce A301 (Figure 4.2c) sensor was selected.

The A301 sensor can endure approximately 445 N, which is enough to monitor a wide range of real-life activities on light and normal weighted individuals, and at least normal speed walks on heavy weighted. Once the sensor type and positioning were decided, the development of a sensing insole was planned.

4.2.2 Development of sensor insole

The sensor insoles were carefully handcrafted, the design was constantly improved on the process of development, as potential sources of noise were detected.

The methodology to build the sensor insoles is described below:



First, the sensors were positioned on the insole, on the proposed zones shown in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3. Sensors positioned on the cotton insole.

Then, the trajectories of the wires were planned with the following considerations:

- One pin of every sensor must be connected to a common wire.
- The wires must not pass below the sensing zones.
- The wires must not cross above or below other wires.

These considerations allow avoiding mechanical noise caused by raised edges due to wire bulging. On the planned wiring trajectories, ducts to rest the wiring were carved on the insole. The wires resting on the carved planned trajectories are shown in Figure 4.4.



Figure 4.4. Wires resting on carved ducts on the insole.

Afterwards, the sensors were soldered, and anti-impact rubbers were placed on the sensor areas. These rubbers have the exact area as the sensor, allowing to focalize the applied load on the sensor. Next, an acetate sheet was cutted and foot-shaped to fit on



the insole, small circled-cuts on the sensor positions resulted on an acetate cover resting on the insole, only standing out the rubbers. The acetate cover avoids direct contact between the wires and the foot, which experimentally was observed to cause significant noise on the sensor signals.



Figure 4.5. Wiring of sensor insole

Finally, a thin fabric was sewed to the sensor insole, which harmonized the appearance of the insole to the shoe. Also, a 12-pin connector was soldered to the wires to connect to an electronic board. The final result is shown in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6. Final state of sensor insole

With this methodology, three pairs of sensor insoles were built. The insoles were on sizes 4, 5 and 7 (Mexican footwear scale). The variety of sensor insole sizing allows covering a larger population on both men and women. The sensor insoles connect through a 12-pin connector to an electronic board, which design will be detailed below.



4.3 ELECTRONICS

An electronic board was designed and built for each shoe. The board allows the device to operate on two modes, which are intended for different situations. The main tasks of the board are the acquisition of the voltage data of the sensors and the wireless transmission of the acquired data to the PPD monitoring software. On this section, design and functionalities of the smart sensor footwear are described.

4.3.1 Specifications of electronic system

The essential tasks of the circuit are: signal conditioning, voltage data acquisition, and wireless transmission. Such tasks, result on a large number of possible solutions, of which, some of them can interfere with other design considerations, for example: the size of the electronic board, which is best to maintain as small as possible to avoid interference with the gait naturality. Considering that, a scheme for the designed circuit was proposed (Figure 4.7), this scheme would allow the smart sensor footwear wirelessly transmit the data, or store it locally.



Figure 4.7. Circuit scheme of the proposed electronic board.

Starting from the left, the data flow was proposed as follows: Through the sensor insole connector, the sensor signals are connected to a 16-1 CD74HC4067 (Texas Instruments, USA) analog multiplexer, a microcontroller switches the control inputs of the multiplexer,



connecting each sensor at a time to a non-inverted amplifier, which output is connected to an ADC of the microcontroller. A dynamic self-calibrating signal conditioning circuit was proposed for the circuit, the proposed circuit is based on an operational amplifier noninverted amplifier configuration, which will be detailed on its own section of this chapter. Finally, when the signal is conditioned, the signal would be acquired by the microcontroller, and then either sent the data wirelessly to the PPD monitoring software, or store it locally on a micro SD memory. The selection of the microcontroller and transmitter is the key to achieve a small-sized, robust, power-efficient circuit.

4.3.2 Microcontroller and wireless transmitter selection

There are many combinations of microcontrollers and transmitters to achieve the task in hand; during preliminary experiments, a smart sensor footwear circuit was built, a PIC18F2550 and a XBEE radiofrequency module were employed to monitor real-time PPD. A robust 20m network was accomplished, even through walls, however, due to slow transmission speed, real time visualization of PPD was not achieved. Also, to create such a strong signal, the consuming power of the device was high; as power efficiency of smart sensors is an important feature, other transmitters were proposed. For this iteration, Bluetooth low energy (BLE) and Wi-Fi transmitters were prioritized. First, the ESP32 microcontroller (Espressif Systems, China) was tested, and then implemented. The low power consumption of the ESP32, the Bluetooth Low Energy and Wi-Fi capabilities make the chip a good alternative for the development of low-cost Internet of Things smart sensors.



Figure 4.8. ESP32 microcontroller.

The ESP32 is a very versatile microcontroller, as it can also transmit on both BLE and Wi-Fi. With this in mind, two operating modes were proposed for the smart sensor footwear:



- Indoor real time PPD monitoring with a wireless local area network, intended for consulting and rehabilitation rooms.
- Outdoor datalogger mode to record and store real-life activities, and then transmit them to a database.

The ESP32 has a 12-bit analog-digital converter (ADC), which was used for sensor data acquisition. A 12-bit ADC is enough to measure load changes during gait on the A301 sensor. However, the force applied to the sensor affects its resistance, thus, to acquire the data of the sensor, this resistance changes must be converted to a voltage signal that the microcontroller's ADC can read. On the next section, a signal conditioning circuit is detailed. The signal conditioning circuit was used to reduce the sensor's non-linearity. To achieve even better accuracy on force measurements, on the next section as well, the development of a self-calibrating circuit will be presented, which would allow optimizing the PPD acquisition for every individual, independently of their weight.

4.3.3 Self-calibrating circuit: Signal conditioning

As for PPD monitoring systems, the force/pressure resolution varies between individuals. A fixed force measurement range (FMR) does not adjust optimally to all users, which vary in weight and consequently on the magnitude of the ground reaction forces applied on the shoe. Typical FMR on sensor footwear systems are 0 N - 200 N, which cover most of the potential users, however, we have found that individuals may apply a maximum of 25 N on any sensor during real-life walks, in which case, the measurements would lie on the 12.5 % of the FMR, and therefore limited resolution would be obtained on light-weighted individual measurements. A dynamical self-calibrating FMR algorithm was designed; the algorithm allows adjusting the FMR of FSRs depending on the maximum force applied by the user. Four FMR were proposed: 0 N - 25 N, 0 N – 50 N, 0 N - 100 N and 0 N – 200 N. The dynamical range was accomplished by a modification on a non-inverted operational amplifier signal conditioning circuit configuration (Figure 4.7), an extensive sensor characterization and a logic decision-making program on the software of the monitoring system.



First, the behavior of an A301 sensor was characterized from 0 N to 200 N inside a shoe on the heel zone. Then, using the force-voltage characterization data, the sensor's resistance behavior was obtained and fitted into the expression shown on Equation 1:

$$Rs = \begin{cases} 30x10^{6}e^{-0.18F_{s}} & \text{when} & 0 \text{ N} \leq \text{ Fs} < 20 \text{ N} \\ -3.5F_{s}^{3} + 802.6F_{s}^{2} - 62339.9F_{s}^{1} + 1793164.7 & \text{when} & 20 \text{ N} \leq \text{ Fs} < 90 \text{ N} \\ -0.05F_{s}^{3} + 24.5F_{s}^{2} - 4558.7F_{s}^{1} + 341460 & \text{when} & 90 \text{ N} \leq \text{ Fs} \leq 200 \text{ N} \end{cases}$$
(1)

where *Fs* is the applied force on the sensor. Although, the resistance change is non-linear, it can be linearized with a non-inverted operational amplifier configuration. The circuit's output voltage equation can be written as:

$$V_{\rm O} = V_{\rm in} \left(1 + \frac{R_{\rm f}}{R_{\rm s}}\right), \qquad (2)$$

where V_{in} is an offset for the voltage signal, R_s is the sensor's resistance, and R_f is the feedback resistor which serves as the amplifier of the sensor's signal. When R_f is modified, the voltage-force range is modified as well; therefore, the voltage-force range must be adjusted to the maximum forces applied by the target PPD groups and the characteristics of the acquisition subsystem. For instance, the signals were acquired with a 12-bit ADC from 0 to 3.3 V with a V_{in} offset of 0.625 V, and then the linearized signal outputs can be modeled as:

$$V_{0} = \frac{(V_{max} - V_{in})}{(F_{max} - F_{min})} (F_{s} - F_{min}) + V_{in}$$
(3)

On both equations, 2 and 3, the V_o can be maximized for a specific FMR (25, 50, 100, 200 N), which allows the equations to be equalized, and hence, R_f can be obtained (note that the F_{min} of the FMR is 0):

$$R_{f} = \frac{(V_{max} - V_{in})}{(F_{max}V_{in})} \left(F_{max}R_{s_max}\right),$$
(4)

$$R_{f} = \frac{(V_{max} - V_{in})}{V_{in}} R_{s_{max}} .$$
(5)

In Table 4.1, the optimal values of R_f were calculated for the four FMR of the A301 sensor.



Table 4	.1	
---------	----	--

Force Measurement Range (N)	Feedback Resistor (Ω)
0 – 25 N	4.1 MΩ
0 – 50 N	1.4 MΩ
0 – 100 N	511 KΩ
0 – 200 N	240 ΚΩ

Theoretical optimal RF for non-inverted amplifier

Theoretically, for a sensor with similar signal response, applying the maximum force on the FMR (25, 50, 100, 200 N) would output a voltage of 3.3 V on the non-inverted amplifier signal conditioning circuit with its corresponding R_f . Before sensor characterization, an experiment was conducted to assess that every sensor would output approximately 4095 12-ADC units (3.3 V) when the maximum forces of the FMRs were applied. The forces were applied by a calibrated INSTRON 3369 universal testing machine. On Figure 4.9a, the voltage response of the eleven sensors of the left sensor shoe is shown, the theoretical optimal feedback resistor of 240 K Ω of the 200 N FMR was used, and the maximum force of 200 N was applied to every sensor. High variability is observed on the sensor responses on Figure 4.9a. As all the sensors are the same model and came from the same batch, similar responses are expected, however this variability led us to conclude that the position of the sensor on the sole is a source of variability, even if it is a flattened-sole footwear. Also, on Figure 4.9a can be observed that using the theoretical optimal R_f calculated for the sensor 2, sensor 2 indeed reaches 3.3V (4095 ADC units), however, sensors 4, 7, and 9 surpass the 3.3V threshold, which means that the ADC is saturated, and hence, PPD data would be lost. A solution could be to implement a specific conditioning circuit with their specific FMR R_{fs} for each sensor to take advantage of the full voltage range, however this would over complicate the circuit increasing the size of the electronics. Which is unacceptable, due to the gait naturality loss caused by bulky electronics on footwear systems or strapped on electronics.

The approach taken was to select a single R_f for each FMR for each shoe, that is, for the proposed system, four R_{fs} for each shoe. The selected R_f was decided by observing the most sensible sensor for each FMR, that is, the one/ones that would output 3.3 V at the



 F_{max} of the FMR; the other sensor responses would lie below the 3.3 V ADC limit. The chosen R_{fs} are shown on table 4.2.

• •	•
Force Measurement Range (N)	Feedback Resistor (Ω)
0 – 25 N	3.3 MΩ
0 – 50 N	1 MΩ
0 – 100 N	470 ΚΩ
0 – 200 N	220 ΚΩ

Table	4.2
-------	-----

Experimental optimal Rf for non-inverted amplifier

The experiment to obtain the Figure 4.9a results was repeated, but, this time the experimental optimal 0-200 FMR R_f was used. The results are shown in Figure 4.9b. It can be observed, that sensors 5, 7, and 9 reach the 3.3 V threshold, and the other sensor responses lie below the limit, this allows optimizing resolution for the proposed signal conditioning circuit, with few low cost components.



Figure. 4.9. Voltage response of the sensor with 0-200 FMR R_f a) Sensor response to 200 N and theoretical optimal 200 FMR R_f ; b) Sensors response to 200 N and experimental optimal 0-200 FMR R_f .



Once the R_f values were obtained, a multiplexer was integrated to the signal conditioning circuit. The control inputs of the multiplexer were connected to the ESP32 microcontroller. At the analog inputs of the multiplexer, the R_{fs} were connected, and on the other terminal of the R_{fs} , the R_s (sensor) was connected as shown on the self-calibration signal conditioning circuit in Figure 4.10. Finally, the analog output of the multiplexer was connected to the voltage output of the operational amplifier, closing the feedback. The described modification on the signal conditioning circuit allows the system to optimally adapt the FMR for each user. The FMR adaptation is achieved through a self-calibration phase, in which the sensor footwear starts sensing at the maximum FMR, for instance 0-200 N, on this phase, the user walks at normal speed on a clear hallway, during the walk, the maximum force applied by the user is detected, then, through a logic decision making program, the optimal FMR for the user is selected and the microcontroller switches the R_r to complete the FMR adjustment. The usage of the optimal FMR improves the resolution on GRF measurements, as personalized force-voltage ranges adapt to the ADC span, which may help to take advantage of the sensor sensitivity on the required FMR.

4.3.4 Design of electronic board

Once all the specifications of the circuit were defined, the design of an electronic board was made. An advantage of using the ESP32 microcontroller, is that the transmitter is also contained in the chip, which saves more space, and allows developing small circuit boards. The circuit design proposed for a smart sensor footwear is shown in Figure 4.10.



Figure 4.10. Smart sensor footwear circuit.



The circuit is integrated by a low number of low-cost components. First, the FMR would be automatically selected through a self-calibrating process which will be detailed on Chapter 5. The microcontroller uses 4 digital outputs to switch the 16-1 analog multiplexer to acquire, one by one, the eleven sensor signals incoming from the sensor insole. The selected sensor signal enters the signal conditioning circuit, then it is amplified depending on the selected FMR. Through the ESP32's 12-bit ADC, the voltage signals are acquired, resulting on the conversion of a 0 V - 3.3 V, to a 0 - 4095 ADC unit range. The eleven ADC signal values, then would be sent to a PPD monitoring software. Both, sensor footwear software and monitoring software development will be detailed on Chapter 5.

4.4 DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF SENSOR FOOTWEAR

The development and characterization process of a sensor footwear is described on this section. Considerations on the development of a sensor footwear are presented, these considerations would help to avoid mechanical noise on the force measurements, and on the characterization process of the sensor footwear. Also, as far as we know, as it has not been reported on the sensor footwear literature, the importance of in-shoe characterization to achieve accurate PPD measurements will be demonstrated, as high variability on the sensor response was found between sensors located on the same zones on left and right shoes. As well, high variability on the sensor response was found along the rearfoot, midfoot, and forefoot zones of the same shoe due to variations on the damping of the sole's material.

4.4.1 Sensor footwear integration

Considerations on the selection of the recipient footwear for the sensor insoles are as important as good sensing setups. The most important considerations are described below:

1. The sole of the footwear must be flat, as different heights or sole reliefs would modify the natural PPD. The importance of flattened-sole footwear lies on the standardization of the tests recorded on the sensor footwear. If tests are recorded



on different sole styles, the PPD is modified for each user, leaving no chance for objective comparison between the recorded tests.

- 2. The footwear shall allow to be half-opened and closed back. This feature would permit an in-shoe characterization, which improves significantly the accuracy on force measurements.
- 3. The device must be all-in-shoe, that is to say, that no strapped-on electronics are allowed, as it modifies the natural gait. Electronics should be kept in some way in/on the shoe, on this sensor footwear, a sewed pocket is proposed.
- 4. The aesthetics of the sensor footwear. It is not quite an important feature in matters of performance, even less if the device is only used on consulting and rehabilitation rooms, however, if the system is intended to be used on real life activities, social acceptance of the sensor footwear takes an important role on the success of the implementation of these type of wearable systems.

Footwear were selected to allocate the sensor insoles. To assure natural PPD, flattenedsole footwear was selected. Fabric non-laced footwear are good alternatives as they can be half-opened and sewed to be closed afterwards. Once, the footwear was selected, inshoe sensor characterization was planned. Shoe modifications were made. First, the insoles of the footwear were removed, and replaced with the sensor insoles. Then the shoe was sliced on the instep, which would allow the press to reach every sensor on the sensor insole.

4.4.2 Sensor footwear characterization

Sensor characterization consists on the obtention of the behavior curve of the sensors, which is the relationship between the output variable of each sensor connected to the signal conditioning circuit (Voltage), and the input variable applied to the sensor (Force). In other words, these characterization curves allow accurate estimation of the force that was applied to the sensor according to the acquired voltage for each sensor. The accuracy and reliability of the force measurements depends on good sensor characterization. For example, on preliminary experiments, characterization was made on the sensor insole outside the shoe, when the evaluation phase was finished, it was



concluded that not only every footwear modifies, as it is obvious, the PPD of the user, but also the sensor response to the applied force, which results on significative errors on the magnitude of the estimated force. The sensor response change could be caused due to the different force damping of the footwear's sole. Therefore, in-shoe sensor characterization would allow obtaining reliable force measurements.

In-shoe sensor characterization was made on a certified INSTRON 3369 universal testing machine on the "Laboratory of Optical and Mechanical Tests" at CIO, León, Gto., México. The characterization setup is shown in Figure 4.11. An accessory with the same sensing area as the sensor was attached on the press to focus the force on the sensor as shown in Figure 4.11a; as the footwear was half-opened, the press can reach every sensor. On Figure 4.11b, the main window of the INSTRON machine is shown, at the top left zone of the screen the applied force is displayed. To obtain the voltage of the sensors, a TCP socket program was used, in which one could send a command to the ESP32, to set the desired FMR for characterization, and to acquire and transmit the actual voltage data.



Figure 4.11. Footwear sensor characterization setup a) Half-opened footwear for in-shoe characterization on INSTRON 3369; b) INSTRON 3369 graphical interface.

Four FMR were proposed for the self-calibrating algorithm: 0 N - 25 N, 0 N - 50 N, 0 N - 100 N, 0 N - 200 N, which means that, for every sensor, four curves were obtained with their respective R_{f} . For the 25 N and 50 N ranges, 6 and 11 measurements with 5 N jumps were made respectively. Also, for the 100 and 200 N ranges, 11 and 21 measurements with 10 N jumps were made.



Calibration sheets were made for each shoe. On Figure 4.12, the characterized sensor's behavior of the left footwear for the 0 - 200 N FMR is shown. It is observed on Figure 4.12, that sensors behave differently across the shoe, the inconsistences on sensor response are possibly caused by variable damping across the footwear sole material, even on flattened-sole footwear.



Figure 4.12. Different response of the sensors when the same force is applied, in the same shoe.



Figure 4.13. Variation in sensor response when the same force is applied to three sensors on the same position on different shoes.

In Figure 4.13, the response of three sensors between left and right footwear is compared. The sensors compared in Figure 4.13 are on the same position on different shoes, all 3 sensors (sensor 2 - heel, sensor 7 - first metatarsal, sensor 10 - fifth metatarsal) present a notable variation on response even if they are in the same position on the left or right shoe. This variability demonstrates that every shoe affects significantly



on the GRF measurements. That said, when generic sensor curve adjustment, or an outof-shoe characterization is used, leads inevitably to random and unreliable inter-subject GRF measurements. Specific FMR R_{fs} along with in-shoe characterization enhances resolution and accuracy on GRF measurements.

It is also observed that between left and right shoes, the sensor behavior changes, which demonstrates the noise that can be caused due to the variability of the damping of the sole's material, even on flattened-soled footwear. Not to mention that using non-specific insoles for its own shoe, would cause also noise due to the alterations of the natural PPD due to the sole's relief. Monitoring PPD with non-shoe specific insole in-shoe characterization would result on the impossibility of objective PPD comparison between subjects. In-shoe characterization along with self-calibration provide a monitoring system accuracy enhancement by improving resolution through the selection of the optimal FMR for every user. Also, the standardization of flattened-sole footwear would allow to compare objectively PPD measurements between subjects.

Finally, when characterization was finished, the footwear was sewed again. As wearable in-shoe systems have been reviewed, a device that does not affect gait naturality is essential to obtain the characteristic PPD of the individual. Bulky electronics and strappedon electronics are some of the principal gait-naturality affectations. Aesthetics and comfort of the device are also to be considered for a real-life gait monitoring application, as social acceptance may not contribute to the device performance, but the viability of the deployment of these systems on ambulatory and real-life applications is affected. The final stage of one of the sensor footwear pairs is shown in Figure 4.14.



Figure 4.14. Sensor footwear.



4.5 CONCLUSION OF THE CHAPTER

The design and development of the hardware for a PPD monitoring system was presented. Sensor footwear was designed, developed, and characterized. Sensor insole considerations on design and development were described to avoid mechanical noise on the sensors. The importance of in-shoe sensor characterization was presented, as high variations on the sensor response were found between shoes and even along the same shoe. A dynamical self-calibrating algorithm was proposed, in which the sensor footwear detects the maximum applied force by the user with a calibration FMR, then, by a logic-decision program the feedback resistor of a non-inverted amplifier signal conditioning circuit is switched to adjust the FMR optimally to the weight of the user, and thus maximizing the resolution of GRF measurements for every individual. Four characterization curves were obtained for each sensor (one for each proposed FMR), shoe-specific characterization sheets were made, which would be integrated to a PPD monitoring system. The communication protocols and the development of the PPD monitoring software will be detailed in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 5:

DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF GAIT MONITORING SOFTWARE

5.1 INTRODUCTION

In this chapter, the development of software tools to monitor gait is described.

First, two communication setups are described. Each setup is intended to operate in different environments, for example, indoors to monitor gait in consulting or rehabilitation rooms (using a PC), or outdoors for ambulatory monitoring applications (using a smartphone). The network mode of the sensor footwear can be switched effortless using a smartphone application, which makes the device versatile and easy to use both inside the lab and on real-life applications.

Then, the design of the microcontroller's program of the sensor footwear is presented. The program is divided into two main sections: the initialization and setup of the program, and the main loop. The operation of the program, functions and dataflow are described. After the sensor footwear's program is explained, the development of two graphical user interfaces (PC and mobile) are presented. These interfaces interact with the sensor footwear, providing easy to use monitoring tools for any user. The features and dataflow of the software are described.



5.2 NETWORK SETUPS OF THE SYSTEM

Before the development of the gait monitoring software, network setups were proposed. In this section, two network setups are presented: a wireless local area network for indoor gait monitoring, and a point to point network setup for outdoor applications. The configurations of both server and clients for these setups are highlighted.

5.2.1 Wireless Local Area Network

Gait laboratories, consulting and rehabilitation rooms are the most likely places where the developed gait monitoring system could operate. As the systems on these places are mostly fixed, we proposed a wireless local area network to communicate the sensor footwear to the monitoring software. The network setup is shown in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1. WLAN's setup.

A router is deployed to create a WLAN. The computer may connect to the network wirelessly, however, for the real time visualization mode, an ethernet connection is recommended, as the communication is smoother. The sensor footwear connects to the network through the ESP32 2.4 GHz antenna, the network's SSID and password are stored in the SD card memory of the sensor footwear.



A TCP/IP protocol is implemented to communicate the sensor footwear with the PC. Each sensor shoe set ups a TCP socket server in a dynamic port (ports between 49152 to 65535). On the PC's end, two TCP clients are implemented (one for each sensor shoe). The requirements to connect to the TCP socket are: being connected to the same network as the server, and the IP address and port of the socket server. Once the client connects to the socket, a bidirectional communication channel is enabled. Then, the client may send strings (character arrays) containing commands for the sensor footwear to execute. The sensor footwear should always send a response to the client, either containing the requested data (i.e. shoe ID code, sensor data, etc.) or a confirmation of the reception and execution of the command (force measurement range adjustment, start/stop recording).

This setup enables a robust network for indoor applications, such as the assessment of gait in consulting or rehabilitation rooms, or the research of gait through clinical studies in controlled environments. The distance covered by this network is determined by the power of the router, and the interference of walls or other solid objects.

This setup was proposed for the PC's software real time visualization mode, however, if real time visualization is not relevant to the application, a developed smartphone app (Section 5.5) can be used as well with this setup to record gait tests. The limitation of this setup is that the sensor footwear must always be on the router's range, which limits its use to indoor applications. However, a second network setup is proposed for out-of-the-lab applications.

5.2.2 Point to point network

For applications that require gait monitoring during real-life activities such as fall-risk assessment, a point-to point network using Bluetooth is proposed to communicate each sensor shoe to a smartphone (Figure 5.2). The purpose intended for this network is to create a portable gait monitoring setup, in which the smartphone acts like a "remote control" of the sensor footwear, the user would use the smartphone app to calibrate the sensor footwear, start or stop recording the sensor data, and synchronize the recorded tests on a cloud database.





Figure 5.2. Point to Point network setup.

Now that the network setups have been presented, the sensor footwear program is presented in the following section.

5.3 SENSOR FOOTWEAR PROGRAM

The sensor footwear's control unit is the ESP32, it can be programmed with C++, Micropython, or Lua. The programming language used for this prototype is C++. The program can be separated into two sections: the initialization sequence, where the global variables are defined and the ESP32 connects to the desired network setup, and the main loop, in which the program handles the commands sent by the user's interface (PC or smartphone).

In the following subsections, the description of the functions of the sensor footwear, and how the data flows through them, is presented. Starting of course, at the initialization of the device.

5.3.1 Initialization

At the initialization of the program, the following sequence is executed (Figure 5.3):



Figure 5.3. Initialization sequence.

- 1. First, the input and output pins of the microcontroller, and global variables of the program are defined. These definitions set up the modules of the device, such as the analog to digital converter (ADC), the SD memory card, and timers, to operate correctly.
- 2. After the definition of the pins and variables, the communication of the microcontroller to the SD module is initiated, and a configuration file is read. The configuration file contains the default values of the device, such as the shoe identification code, the network mode, and the id of the WLAN network and its access password. The shoe identification code is unique for every shoe, for instance: "L4_v1" and "R4_v1", where L and R stand for left and right (shoe) respectively, the number to the side of the L (or R) represents the size of the shoe (Mexican size), then, the underscore is a separator, finally, v1 stands for version 1 of the prototype. This code is very important because its associated to an in-shoe-specific sensor calibration sheet, used to obtain accurate ground reaction forces (GRF) measurements.


- After the configuration values are loaded, the self-calibration circuit switches the force measurement range (FMR) to the calibration FMR (maximum force FMR), in this case 0 – 200 N.
- 4. Finally, depending on the network mode value loaded in the configuration file, the sensor shoe tries to connect to the system's WLAN using the configuration values, or makes himself discoverable to other Bluetooth devices.

Then, the program enters to the main loop of the program, where it receives and handles the commands from the connected interface (PC or smartphone).

5.3.2 Main loop

Once the sensor shoe is connected to the router (WLAN), or paired and connected to a smartphone via Bluetooth, the main loop handles the data received through the 2.4 GHz antenna. In Figure 5.4, a flowchart of the main loop is shown.



Figure 5.4. Main loop flowchart and list of commands of the sensor footwear program.

The incoming stream of data is read as a string. This string is parsed with the underscore (__) character as separator. Two fields must be separated from the received string:



command, and a parameter. The available commands for the sensor shoe are also shown in Figure 5.4. Once, a command is identified, it is executed, and a response is sent to the client. Then, the loop continues indefinitely, until the sensor shoe is turned off. The design of the program enables a versatile and easy to use smart sensor footwear. To interact with the sensor footwear, graphical interfaces were designed. In the following section, a PC gait monitoring software is described.

5.4 PC GAIT MONITORING SOFTWARE

The field of gait monitoring and analysis is vast, research groups have extensively studied the relation of gait to a large number of pathologies, not only related to the lower limb biomechanics, but also to neurological pathologies. To develop clinical studies, controlled indoor environments are mostly used to monitor the gait of the patients. For these applications, a PC gait monitoring software was designed.

The programming language used to develop the gait monitoring software is Python, the main reasons to choose this language are the multiplatform compatibility (Windows, OSX, Linux) and the ease of implementation of machine learning algorithms.

The design of the graphical interface was made using the Python library PyQt5. The main screen of the gait monitoring software is shown in Figure 5.5.



Figure 5.5. Gait monitoring software interface.



This tab shows the main feature of the software: plantar pressure distribution (PPD) monitoring during gait. In the following subsection the real time visualization mode of the system is presented.

5.4.1 Real time visualization mode

The real time visualization mode allows the user to observe and record the PPD during gait. The interface was designed to guide intuitively the user through the recording of the test sessions. The test recording follows the process described below, also, the internal loop of the software for the real time visualization routine is shown in Figure 5.6.



Figure 5.6. Real time visualization routine, flow chart.



- 1. First, patient data such as name, age, height and weight are captured.
- 2. Then, the software connects to the sensor footwear. The software handles each sensor shoe in separate processor threads, thus, achieving parallel and asynchronous communication.
- 3. Then, the footwear sends their identification codes, which are used to select the shoe-specific characterization sheets to obtain accurate GRF.
- 4. Afterwards, the self-calibration process is done as follows:
 - a) On the gait monitoring's software, the user presses the self-calibration button, the software commands the ESP32 microcontrollers to switch to the maximum force range available (0 N – 200 N).
 - b) Then, the user shall walk a round trip on a clear corridor. As the microcontrollers constantly send GRF data, the software detects the maximum force applied on the shoes.
 - c) Next, when the patient finishes the self-calibration round trip, the user commands the software to end the self-calibration process.
 - d) Immediately, the software selects the optimal FMR depending on the maximum force applied during the self-calibration walk, and the software sends a command to the ESP32s to switch the multiplexer R_f to the corresponding FMR.
- Then, the monitoring system is ready to record the gait with an optimal force range.
 When desired, the user can press the "record button" and instruct the patient to do the gait test.
- 6. Once the patient finishes the test, the user shall press the "record button" to stop the recording session.

As the system is still calibrated, several tests can be recorded following steps 5 and 6. However, if desired, the user can reset the calibration through the "restart button", which returns every variable on both software and microcontrollers to their initial state.

Once the tests are recorded, they are automatically stored both locally on the PC and on a dropbox cloud database. If the computer does not have internet access at the time when the tests are recorded, it can manually synchronize the test database by clicking the backup button on the main tab of the interface. By clicking the button, first the PC



compares the list of the local tests with a list on the dropbox storage, then, the PC uploads the tests that are not on the cloud, and downloads the ones that are not locally stored (for example, tests recorded and uploaded with the smartphone app).

If desired, the tests can be reproduced through the gait test reproduction feature of the software, which is described in the following subsection.

5.4.2 Gait test reproduction

Recorded tests can be reproduced using the local storage of patient records, which are organized by name, date and number of the test. Through the reproduction tab of the graphical interface, the user can select a specific test and play the file in two representations: foot colored images, or time-force graphs. The interface and setting of the gait test reproduction feature are shown in Figure 5.7



Figure 5.7. Gait test reproduction feature.

In Figure 5.7, the time-force graph of a gait test is shown. The graph can be static (all data shown at once), or dynamic, that is to say that the graph is shown imitating the real time visualization mode. For these graphs, the data shown can also be selected by the user, for example, the graph can show only the data of the left or right sensor shoe (or both). Also, the graph can show the data of each sensor, or the total ground reaction force (the



sum of each sensor data), or sections of the data, such as the load of only the backfoot, midfoot or forefoot.

Furthermore, the force load percentages, for each foot and their sections are shown on a table at the side of the graphic. These table may help to observe if the patient walks with significant imbalance, or loads its weight abnormally towards a foot section.

Other features of the software include data preprocessing, which is described in chapter 6, gait analysis experiments are also described in chapter 6. In the following subsection, a smartphone app for gait monitoring is presented.

5.5 SMARTPHONE GAIT MONITORING APP

Nevertheless, not all gait monitoring and analysis applications need real time visualization, nor are developed inside-the-lab. The gait monitoring for fall risk assessment, energy expenditure quantification, among others need to monitor gait under real-life daily activities. For this purpose, a smartphone application was developed for Android operating systems using the Java programming language. The main screen of the app is shown in Figure 5.8.



Figure 5.8. Main screen of Android app.



The app can work with both network setups, for example, if the gait is to be monitored at the home of the patient, the WLAN setup can be used. It is only needed that the sensor footwear and the smartphone are connected to the same network. However, when the user leaves its house to continue his daily activities, the point to point network can be used. Through the settings tab, the user can easily switch the network mode of the app.

This app works as a remote control of the sensor footwear, so to speak. The user can calibrate the sensor footwear, start or stop gait monitoring, and synchronize the recorded files to the cloud database, where the specialist may review the results for further analysis.

5.6 CONCLUSION OF THE CHAPTER

In this chapter, the design and development of software for gait monitoring has been presented. First, two network setups were proposed to communicate user interfaces to the developed sensor footwear. A WLAN network setup was proposed for indoor gait monitoring applications in gait labs, or consulting and rehabilitation rooms. Also, a point to point network was proposed for outside-the-lab gait applications.

Then, the design of the program of the microcontroller of the sensor footwear was presented, where the two sections of the program were described. First, the initialization routine of the microcontroller, in which the sensor footwear initializes the ADC, and SD memory modules, and connects to the selected network mode. And then, the main loop of the program, where the microcontroller handles and executes the commands of the user interfaces.

Afterwards, two developed software solutions were presented to interface the user with the sensor footwear. The first one, a PC monitoring software that was designed for real time visualization of the plantar pressure distribution during gait. And secondly, a smartphone application designed to monitor gait during real life activities.

CHAPTER 6: GAIT ANALYSIS

6.1 INTRODUCTION

In this chapter, the main focus is to present the proposal and implementation of a methodology for gait test acquisition, and a preprocessing gait data pipeline for the gait monitoring and analysis system. Both the test acquisition methodology and the data pipeline were proposed to standardize the data acquisition and preprocessing for the analysis applications described on this thesis, and on our future work.

Also, a proof of concept about classification of ground reaction force (GRF) patterns during gait is demonstrated using the developed gait monitoring and analysis system. For this experiment, the natural GRF pattern of an individual was recorded, also two pathological GRF patterns were simulated by placing perturbations on the foot which generated repeatable GRF patterns. Then, the three patterns were preprocessed, converted to images and fed to a convolutional neural network to build a GRF gait pattern classification model.



6.2 DEVELOPMENT OF PREPROCESSING GAIT DATA PIPELINE

In this section, the development of a preprocessing gait data pipeline is described. The pipeline takes as inputs the raw signals recorded by the sensor footwear, segments the relevant steps and outputs standardized data frames, each one containing a single step. The preprocessing gait data pipeline was designed to work with gait data frames acquired with the following methodology.

6.2.1 Test acquisition methodology

A methodology to acquire repeatable gait samples with the developed sensor footwear is proposed. The tests are recorded on a corridor, the patients are instructed by the specialist to walk *n* round-trips at their natural walking speed, which may normally be between 1.18 m/s and 1.42 m/s. The test protocol is shown on the flow chart in Figure 6.1a, also, Figure 6.1b depicts graphically the test acquisition protocol.



Figure 6.1.

a) Gait test flow chart.b) Gait test movement protocolc) static positions flags (black signal inside red rectangles)

It can be noted, that pauses are instructed on the gait test protocol, the purpose of these pauses are to act as flags to detect and segment the gait relevant steps of the recorded tests.

In Figure 6.1c, the sum of the GRF of the left sensor shoe is shown, inside the red rectangles, the static positions and turns are highlighted. The process of using these flags to segment the data is described in the following section, in which the development of the preprocessing gait data pipeline is presented.

6.2.2 Preprocessing gait data pipeline

In this section, the development of a preprocessing data pipeline is described. It was developed to automatically segment the relevant data from tests acquired with the methodology proposed above. The purpose of the gait data pipeline is to automate the preprocessing of the tests, which saves time on manual slicing the data, and standardizes the signals of the relevant gait-cycles, generating ready to analyze data frames for GRF analysis applications.

The data pipeline is integrated by two algorithms, the first one is the gait-segmentation algorithm, it makes two cuts to output the characteristic gait cycles of the individual. The second, is the signal standardization algorithm, which detects the gait phases of the segments thrown by the gait-segmentation algorithm and outputs uniform data frames. The development of the former is described below.

6.2.2.1 Gait-segmentation algorithm

The algorithm takes as input the recorded tests which contain 22 raw signals (11 sensor signals from each sensor shoe) and their respective timestamps acquired during v round-trips along a clear corridor. Each round-trip is defined as a gait segment. Then, the algorithm slices the data to generate 2v gait segments. The resulting gait segments contain the characteristic PPD on gait of the individual, which are ready-to-analyze. The algorithm operates as follows:



First, two data frames are created (left and right footwear data frames), each one containing their respective 11 sensor signals and timestamps. Then, the sensor signals from each footwear data frame are added together on each instant *k* acquired:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{i=n} S_{i,k}^{Left} = \sum_{i=1}^{i=n} S_{i,k}^{Right},$$
(6.1)

where *n* is the number of sensors of the sensing shoe, and *S* the value of force of the sensor number *i* on the instant *k*. The addition of every sensor for each sensor-footwear reduces the dimensionality of the initial data frames, which simplifies the process to find the indexes of the start and end of each step.

The data frames contain now only 2 vectors, the total ground reaction force of the footwear on every instant k acquired and their respective timestamps. In Figure. 6.2, the total ground reaction force of the right footwear data frame is shown (black signal + red signal).



Figure 6.2. Inter-static position gait data segmented.

Next, by a zero-crossing algorithm, a list with the indexes of the start and end of every step *j* is obtained for both left and right footwear data frames, and the duration for each step $j(d_j)$ is calculated:

$$d_{i} = step_time_end_{i} - step_time_start_{i}.$$
(6.2)

As the individuals walking speed was between 1.18 m/s and 1.42 m/s, the step's duration was smaller than 1.5 s. Also, as the individuals paused at least 2 seconds every half lap, 2 seconds static positions (detected as steps) surround the relevant gait cycles of the test. Subsequently, the static positions are flagged by comparing the duration of the steps against a threshold $d_j = 1.5$ s. This threshold works fine, as the mean duration of the real



recorded steps is less than a second. Then, using the flags, the first segmentation of the data is performed, resulting on 2v segments (Figure 6.2, red signals) for each data frame. Afterwards, for each pair of segments, first right segment and first left segment and so on, the first step and last step (Figure 6.3, red signals) of the segment were detected and removed. These first and last steps removal was proposed due to an observed variation on load intensity and distribution generated by the acceleration and deceleration at the start and the end of the walk. The removal of these steps allows obtaining the characteristic PPD on the gait of an individual and thus accomplish an objective comparison between gait segments. After removing the first and last step of each segment, the result are the blue signal segments shown in Figure 6.3.



Figure 6.3. Proposed gait-slicing process.

The output of the gait-segmentation algorithm are the blue signal segments; for this example, twelve gait-segments, six for each sensor shoe, are obtained. These segments are the input for the signal standardization algorithm, which is described in the subsection below.

6.2.2.2 Signal standardization algorithm

The signal standardization algorithm takes each gait-segment generated by the segmentation algorithm and generates a *k*-length standardized data frame for each step in the gait-segment. The algorithm operates as follows:

1. First, the algorithm uses the Equation 6.1 to calculate the total GRF for each gaitsegment. As the gait-segments contain variable steps, a zero-crossing algorithm is used to get the index of both the start and the end of each step.



2. Then, for each step, the index of the points A, B, C, D and E are identified according to Figure 6.4.



Figure 6.4. Division of gait cycle

- 3. Once, the indexes are obtained, lineal splines are defined between A-B, B-C, C-D, and D-E, for each one of the eleven sensor signals. With these splines, a standardized cloud of points is generated for each of the sections of the step (A-B, B-C, C-D, and D-E), for instance 50 points, this allows creating length standardized data frames of 11 x 200 (11 sensors, 200 time instances), which can be used for gait-analysis applications.
- 4. Finally, each length standardized step data frame is converted into a grayscale heatmap, so the maximum force is represented by a 255, and 0 N is represented by a 0. These heatmaps contain the data of the eleven sensors (vertical axis) during the time duration of the step (horizontal axis).

An example of a data frame containing the eleven sensor signals of a step is shown in Figure 6.5a, and the corresponding heatmap to that data frame is shown in Figure 6.5b.





Figure 6. 5 a) GRF signals of a step of left sensor shoe

b) Grayscale heatmap of step



The data frame containing the force data can be used for example to train deep neural networks such as the Long-Short Term Memory (LSTM), or can be analyzed with any time-series analysis technique, the grayscale heatmap can be used in classification tasks for example with convolutional neural networks (CNN).

Now that the hardware, software, and preprocessing algorithms have been described, a gait analysis proof of concept experiment is presented.

6.3 GAIT GRF PATTERN CLASSIFICATION: A PROOF OF CONCEPT

Gait pattern classification is one among many techniques that can be useful to create auxiliary tools for clinical diagnosis. In this section, a proof of concept of classification of GRF patterns on gait is presented. Three gait patterns were recorded and used to train a convolutional neural network. The data was acquired with the proposed sensor footwear (Chapter 4) and methodology (Section 6.2.1). A description of the methodologies to generate the data for this experiment is presented in the following subsection.

6.3.1 Acquisition of gait patterns

For this experiment, three gait patterns were proposed. A normal or "control" GRF pattern, and two pathological gait patterns. To generate pathological GRF patterns on gait, a piece of plastic of 3 cm x 4 cm x 1 mm was placed on the left sensor footwear (for this experiment, only the left sensor shoe was used). In Figure 6.6, the placement of the plastic piece is depicted for each gait pattern.



Figure 6.6. Setup of foot perturbations for three different GRF patterns on gait



Pattern 0 consists of a "normal" GRF on gait, pattern 1 consists of a gait pattern with an anomaly in the heel zone of the foot, and pattern 2 consists of a gait pattern with an anomaly on the metatarsal zone of the foot.

For this experiment, fifteen gait sessions were recorded for each sensor footwear setup. Using the preprocessing gait data pipeline, 350 steps were extracted for each pattern, for a total of 1050 images.



In Figure 6.7, images of the three GRF patterns on gait are shown.

Figure 6.7. Preprocessed step images for gait pattern classification

Following standard practices to build a machine learning model, the dataset was divided in three sets:

- Training set: 70% (~750 images)
- Validation set: 15% (~150 images)
- Test set: 15% (~150 images)

The training set is used to adjust the classifier model, the validation set is used to assess if the model is over or under fitted and to adjust the hyperparameters of the model. Finally, the test set is used once the final model is trained and validated. The test set helps to evaluate the performance of the model and its ability to correctly classify new instances (generalization). A convolutional neural network was proposed to classify the gait pattern images. In the following subsection, the description of the model is presented.



6.3.2 Classifier Architecture

The TensorFlow framework was used to implement the neural network. The proposed architecture for the classification problem is integrated by two convolutional layers, followed by a pooling layer, then the output is flattened and connected to a fully connected layer, and finally, the output layer is another fully connected layer with the number of classes of the classification problem, for this case, three. The output layer has a softmax activation function, which outputs the probability of the GRF pattern image to belong to each class. In Figure 6.8, the diagram of the CNN's architecture is shown.



Figure 6.8. Convolutional Neural Network Architecture.

Loss function

A sparse categorical cross entropy cost function was selected for the model. This function is used to measure the performance of classification models (binary or multiclass) which outputs are expressed as probabilities to belong to a class (output between 0 and 1). The cross-entropy loss increases when the probability diverges of the target of the instanced input. For example, predicting a probability of 0.012 when the correct observation is 1, would result in a high loss. A perfect model, would predict a probability of 1, and thus, zero loss.



Optimizer

The Adam optimizer was used on this model. It is one of the most popular optimizers, and a good choice as a starting point when training a model. The Adam optimizer is computationally efficient and can operate with noisy data, also, normally its hyperparameters need generally few adjustments.

6.3.3 Results

The model was trained 20 epochs with the Adam optimizer, the number of epochs is extremely low. However, the model adjusted rapidly to the data, and obtained low cost in both the training and validation set, thus, rejecting the probability of overfitting.



The loss and accuracy graphs are shown in Figure 6.9

Figure 6.9. a) Training and validation loss b) Classification accuracy with training and validation data sets

A possible answer to the extremely low iterations needed to fit the model, even though the architecture was simple, is that the classification problem we proposed was easy, the data was lineally separable and thus, the model learned quickly to distinguish between the GRF patterns on gait.

Finally, once the model was trained and validated, the generalization of the model was evaluated with the test set (157 instances that the models never "saw"). The classification



accuracy of the model was of 98%. To depict the accuracy results, a confusion matrix is shown in Figure 6.10.



Figure 6.10. Confusion matrix

It can be observed that only three of the 157 instances were mistakenly classified. A F1_score of 0.98 was achieved, which indicates that the trained model has high accuracy and low false positive and false negative rates. However, the high accuracy results with such a simple architecture suggest that the proposed classification problem was too easy to solve. On future work, the acquisition and classification of gait data of real pathologies is planned.

6.4 CONCLUSION OF THE CHAPTER

In this chapter, the proposal and development of a test acquisition methodology and a preprocessing gait data pipeline were presented; Both, the methodology and the algorithm, were created to automate and standardize the data acquisition and preprocessing tasks, to create objective ready-to-analyze data for any GRF analysis application.

Finally, a proof of concept of classification of GRF patterns on gait was demonstrated. Three different gait patterns were acquired with the developed sensor footwear and the newly introduced acquisition methodology, and then, the data was preprocessed with the developed preprocessing gait data pipeline. Subsequently, a CNN was trained to classify the data. High accuracy results were obtained, which demonstrates the potential of gait pattern classification to develop auxiliary tools for clinical diagnosis of gait anomalies.

CHAPTER 7:

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION



7.1 RESULTS OF THE PROJECT

In this thesis work, the design, development, characterization and deployment of a gait monitoring and analysis system has been presented. In this section the main results of the project are reviewed, beginning with the development of the sensor footwear.

Sensor Footwear

There were two main achievements obtained through the development of the prototype:

The first one, is the demonstration of the importance of the in-shoe characterization of the sensors to improve the accuracy of the ground reaction forces' (GRF) measurements. When designing the sensor footwear, one of the most important aspects that we focused on, was to obtain accurate GRF measurements. To achieve this, reliable sensor characterizations were needed. In the literature of GRF monitoring using wearables such as sensor insoles or footwear, vague or non-existing characterization information is presented. Leading to assume that authors obtained a generic force-voltage sensor response, and then used it to estimate the forces of every sensor. This would work if all the sensors behaved indeed equally, and there were no other sources of variability. So, we asked ourselves the following question:

How much does the footwear affect to the sensor's response?

To answer this question, we tested the acquired sensors. The sensors were tested by applying the same load, on the footwear, only on the insole, and outside the footwear and insole. First, we tested the sensors outside the footwear and insole, and a coefficient of variance (CV) of 2.62% between the sensors' response was obtained. This demonstrates, that if used on the same surface, a generic sensor response would suffice to estimate the applied force on the sensor. But then, we tested the same loads on the sensors on the insole, and a CV of 9.35% was obtained, which means that the insole, though it is flat, adds variability to the measurements. Furthermore, the insole (with the sensors on it) was



installed on the footwear (a flattened-sole footwear), and the same loads were applied to the sensors, this resulted on a 16.61% CV, which means that the position of the sensor on the footwear affects the sensor's response, even on flattened-sole footwear. These variations lead us to the inevitable acknowledgement of the importance of in-shoe characterization, which proves that at least for quantitative measurements of GRF, sensor insoles should not be used on different shoes, as not only GRF accuracy is decreased, but also the natural plantar pressure distribution (PPD) of the individual is modified due to the footwear sole, disabling objective PPD comparisons between individuals. To address this variability, we decided to make an extensive in-shoe sensor characterization. In-shoe characterization allows compensating the inherent variability of the insole and footwear, and thus, resulting in accurate GRF measurements.

It is worth to be mentioned, that not all gait monitoring applications are dependent on accurate GRF measurements, for example, the ones that rely on activity detection. However, if GRF wearable systems aim to achieve accurate GRF measurements, in-shoe characterization must be considered, as it compensates the variability of the footwear.

The second achievement, is the resolution improvement on the GRF measurements obtained through the self-calibration algorithm. As stated in Chapter 4, a fixed force measurement range (FMR), for instance, 0 N - 200 N, may be enough to monitor most individuals in low impact activities such as walking, but this FMR is not optimal for every user. During the assessment period of the system in the consulting room, we observed, that light -weighted individuals applied a maximum of 50 N or even 25 N per sensor, which represents only the 25% or 12.5% of the total FMR respectively, which results in limited resolution when monitoring light-weighted individuals. With such a limited resolution, it may be difficult to quantify reliably small variations on the gait pattern of a patient.

To solve this, we proposed a dynamical self-calibrating circuit with four FMR: 0 N - 25 N, 0 N - 50 N, 0 N - 100 N, and 0 N - 200 N; these FMR allow monitoring the PPD of lightweighted individuals like children and of overweighted adults below 100 Kg on low impact activities like walking and going up or down stairs.



The self-calibration circuit dynamically adjusts the FMR of the sensors, depending on the maximum force applied by the user. The self-calibration enables the utilization of the whole FMR, which optimizes the measurements' resolution for each individual, independently of their weight. The resolution enhancement of the self-calibration algorithm can be demonstrated with the comparison of the characterization curves shown in figure 7.1. On the graph, the characterization curves of a sensor on the metatarsal zone for 0 N - 25 N and 0 N - 200 N FMR are shown. As the developed sensor footwear operate with a 12-bit ADC in a range of V_{in} 0.625 - 3.3 V, 3320 ADC units are used for the GRF acquisition. The next thought experiment is proposed: How does the resolution compares when 0 N - 25 N and 0 N - 200 N FMR are used and the user can apply only a maximum force of 25 N on any sensor?



Figure 7.1. Characterization curves for 0 - 25 N and 0 - 200 N FMR.

In Figure 7.1, it can be observed that if the 0 N - 200 N FMR was used to record the lightweighted individual (25 N maximum force), the measurements would lie on approximately 200 out of 3320 available ADC units, instead if the system was self-calibrated to the 0 N - 25 N FMR, the measurements of the sensors would use the 3320 available ADC units, resulting on a 16.66 times resolution enhancement.

With both the in-shoe characterization, and the self-calibration algorithm and circuit, the developed sensor footwear is enabled to obtain accurate GRF measurements during daily activities such as walking, going up or down stairs, among other low impact activities, with an optimized FMR for any user, independently of their weight.



Moving on, the review of the results regarding the gait monitoring system as a whole are described below.

Gait monitoring system

The gait monitoring system is integrated by the developed sensor footwear described in Chapter 4, the software tools presented in Chapter 5, and the methodologies and processing algorithms shown in Chapter 6. After the sensor footwear and monitoring software were tested, and also thanks to a collaborator of the project, the gait monitoring system was deployed on a rheumatologist's consulting room. The PC monitoring software was installed on the specialist's computer, and a router was set up on the consulting room to create a wireless local area network for the sensor footwear to connect.

During three months, the gait monitoring system was evaluated by the specialist. The patients were asked if they wanted to test the sensor footwear, and walk a couple of laps on a corridor to monitor their gait. During the evaluation period, 70 individuals of a diverse group of age, weight, and with or without knee symptoms, tried the proposed sensor footwear. The tests were recorded with the proposed methodology and preprocessed with the gait-segmentation algorithm, in which, the gait cycles between turns, and static positions are segmented. On these gait segments, the first and last left or right step are also sliced, as these steps have a different amplitude and force distribution than the middle steps, due to the acceleration or deceleration of the gait. The segmented middle gait cycles represent the characteristic GRF on gait of an individual. Then, some statistics about the characteristic GRF on gait were calculated for each individual. For example, the step cadence, average and standard deviation of step forces and durations.

Also, the distribution of the GRF on the left and right foot, on the medial and lateral section of the foot, and on the backfoot, midfoot and forefoot were estimated. The distributions of the GRF mentioned, were used to create a representation of the tendency of GRF on gait segments, this representation is shown in Figure 7.2.



In Figure 7.2, the estimated tendency is represented by quantifying the sensor footwear data in a tridimensional space. The first dimension represents the percentage load on the left or right foot of the subject, the first coordinate is situated from 0 to1, if the load of the user predominates towards the right foot; and from -1 to 0 if the load on left foot predominates. The second dimension is represented by the percentage inner or outer load, the sensor's data is divided depending on their position on inner or outer part of the foot. The coordinate is situated from 0 to 1 if the load of the user predominates on the outer part of the foot; and from -1 to 0 if the foot; and from o to 1 if the load of the user predominates on the outer part of the foot; and from 0 to 1 if the load predominates on the inner part of the foot. Then, the third dimension represents the percentage load on rearfoot or forefoot, the coordinate is situated from 0 to 1 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 if the load predominates towards the forefoot; and from -1 to 0 i



Figure 7.2. GRF tendency on gait tests' segments

This is only a representation of the quantification of the sensor data, which was used to assess the system's performance during the evaluation period at the consulting room. This representation shows graphically where the gait GRF tendency of every monitored user is situated. For future work, further analysis with data collected by the developed GRF monitoring system will be presented, as the goal of the system and algorithms is to create a gait database of a wide variety of pathologies, in which, due to the design and development considerations of the sensor footwear, the signals obtained can objectively be compared between patients to create auxiliary tools for clinical diagnosis and rehabilitation analysis.



7.2 DISCUSSION

Worldwide, the design and development of sensor footwear has created interest due to its potential role to provide auxiliary tools for diagnostic and rehabilitation of a wide range of pathologies. In this work, the design and development of a gait monitoring and analysis system was presented, and in this section, the results obtained through this thesis are discussed, starting from the design of the sensor footwear.

Probably, the first decision made when developing a sensor footwear to monitor ground reaction forces (GRF), is the selection of the sensor's technology. On wearable sensor insoles or footwear, technologies such as capacitive, resistive, piezoelectric, optical, among others have been implemented. Each one of them provides different advantages and disadvantages. For the developed prototype, we have used force sensing resistors (FSRs), which are one of the popular cost-precision choices, however, the non-linearity of the response of the sensor may affect the accuracy of the measurements. To reduce this non-linearity, signal conditioning circuits such as the non-inverting amplifier can be implemented.

This leads to another decision, the definition of the force measurement range (FMR). The FMR is not only determined by the sensor's mechanical properties and limitations, but also by the signal conditioning circuit. The FMR is defined depending on the weight of the user and the activity to monitor. So, the FMR would be wider for high impact activities than for walking at natural speed, or would be wider for heavy weighted users, than for children or low weight women. Naturally, devices with wider FMR could be used to monitor low impact activities and light-weighted individuals, however, the full extension of the FMR would not be used, resulting on limited resolution on the GRF measurements. To address this problem, we have proposed, designed and implemented a self-calibrating signal conditioning circuit, which enables a dynamical FMR for the sensor footwear. Through a calibration phase, the sensor footwear detects the maximum force applied by the user, and selects the optimal FMR for each user, improving the resolution of GRF measurements up to 16.66 times.



Then, one of the most important aspects regarding the accuracy of the GRF measurements is the characterization of the sensors. As the literature of the design and development of sensor footwear was revised, characterization specifications were rarely found, and when they were presented, the authors did not deepen on it. This leads to assume that a generic sensor response curve is used to obtain GRF measurements from all sensors. This may not have an effect, when measuring the sensors outside the footwear, but it does have an effect when measuring inside the shoe. During our experimentation, significative variations on the response of the sensors were identified between sensors on the same position on left and right shoe, and also on sensors along the same shoe, even if a flattened-sole footwear was used. A coefficient of variation (CV) of 2.62 %, was obtained for the sensors outside the shoe, and CV of 12.01% and 8.37% were calculated for the left and right footwear, respectively, for the in-shoe characterization. These variations lead us to the inevitable acknowledgement of the importance of in-shoe characterization, which proves that at least for quantitative measurements of GRF, sensor insoles should not be used on different shoes, as not only GRF accuracy is decreased, but also the natural plantar pressure distribution (PPD) of the individual is modified due to the footwear sole, disabling objective PPD comparisons between individuals. In-shoe characterization improves the accuracy of the PPD monitoring systems on GRF acquisition, also the implementation of flattened-sole footwear to monitor PPD standardizes PPD tests, allowing objective inter-patient gait comparison.

Finally, an aspect of sensor footwear design that may seem superficial, but it is still relevant, is the utilization of bulky electronics, which result in the need of strapped-on electronics to the leg or hip of the user. Strapped-on electronics affect the natural gait of the user. This circumstance adds a random variable to the measurements of the studies, because each user may compensate the discomfort of the strapped-on electronics and hanging wires in their own way. This is not only an aspect to take care for in research and clinical applications, but a critical concern when aiming to deploy wearable systems in real life applications, as the comfort and social acceptance of the devices are important aspects that must be considered when designing wearable technologies.



As for today, wearable gait monitoring systems are used mainly in research laboratories. To further promote the use of gait monitoring systems in consulting and rehabilitation rooms, we have developed PC monitoring and analysis tools to provide GRF statistics that may be useful to assess the evolution of gait of patients during stages of their gait-related pathologies and their rehabilitation and follow up. For now, the proposed system provides a real time visualization, test recording, cloud database synchronization, the reproduction of recorded tests, and the display of GRF statistics. Other systems provide the analysis of center of pressure, extraction of several gait parameters, among other features. On future work, more features will be developed and integrated to the PC software.

On the other hand, ambulatory applications such as activity detection, fall risk assessment, energy consumption estimation, among others have been demonstrated in the literature. In this work, we have developed a smartphone tool to record gait. However, also on future work, we intend to develop a feature to assess the evolution of gait during real life activities, this feature may serve as an auxiliary tool to detect gait abnormalities, or to track the improvement of the patient's gait during rehabilitation.

Moreover, we have proposed a test acquisition methodology and a gait preprocessing data pipeline to standardize the sensor data acquired with the developed system. The test acquisition methodology consists on a movement protocol to record gait on a corridor. These recorded tests are then preprocessed with our algorithm, which was designed to complement the test acquisition methodology. The preprocessing algorithm automatically segments the relevant gait cycles of the test, to obtain the individual's characteristic GRF on gait. Then, these gait cycles are standardized in amplitude and vector size, thus, they can be objectively compared with the tests of other individuals.

To evaluate our sensing system, methodologies and algorithms, we have demonstrated a GRF pattern classification proof of concept. In this proof of concept, we have artificially created GRF patterns by applying repeatable perturbations to the foot, and then acquired an equal number of gait tests for each pattern with our proposed methodology, and preprocessed the recorded data with the developed data pipeline. Finally, we fed a



convolutional neural network to learn and classify the GRF patterns. We found success on this experiment, by classifying correctly more than 95% of the gait cycles.

Undoubtedly, the potential of gait monitoring and analysis is huge. However, its implementation on real life circumstances will highly depend on the development of robust, reliable, and low-cost monitoring systems and by demonstrating that the developed analysis tools would bring a real utility as auxiliary tools for diagnosis, rehabilitation, or other ambulatory applications.

DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT, CHARACTERIZATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF A GROUND REACTION FORCE MONITORING SYSTEM FOR GAIT ANALYSIS

CHAPTER 8:

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS



8.1 CONCLUSION

- ✓ The design and development of a sensor footwear prototype was presented. Several considerations made on the sensor footwear design and development were described to avoid mechanical noise on the sensors.
- ✓ The importance of in-shoe sensor characterization was demonstrated, as significative variations on the sensor's responses (coefficient of variation (CV) = 16.61%) were found along the backfoot, midfoot, and forefoot zones of the foot (on a flattened sole shoe), in contrast to the CV of 2.62% on the sensor response outside the footwear. The increase of variation on the sensor response inside the footwear demonstrates that generic sensor response curves introduce errors in the force measurements, which can be compensated with in-shoe sensor characterization.
- A dynamical self-calibrating circuit was proposed. The sensor footwear detects the maximum applied force through a calibration phase, then, by a logic-decision program the feedback resistor (Rf) of a non-inverted amplifier signal conditioning circuit is switched to adjust the force measurement range (FMR) optimally to the weight of the user, and thus maximizing the resolution of ground reaction force (GRF) measurements for every individual.
- ✓ Four characterization curves were obtained for each sensor (one for each proposed FMR) using a universal testing machine. Then, shoe-specific characterization sheets were made and integrated to the gait monitoring software, to obtain accurate GRF measurements from sensor responses.
- ✓ The design of the program of the microcontroller was presented, where the two sections of the program were described: (1) the initialization routine of the microcontroller, in which the sensor footwear initializes the adc, and SD memory modules, and connects to the selected network mode. And (2) the main loop of the program, where the microcontroller handles and executes the commands of the user interfaces.



- ✓ Two software solutions were presented to interface the user with the sensor footwear. The first one, a PC monitoring software that was designed for real time visualization of the GRF during gait on motion laboratories, consulting and rehabilitation rooms. And the second one, a smartphone application designed to monitor gait during real life activities.
- Two network setups were proposed to communicate the developed user interfaces to the sensor footwear. A WLAN network setup was proposed for indoor gait monitoring applications in gait labs, or consulting and rehabilitation rooms. Also, a point to point network was proposed for outside-the-lab gait applications.
- ✓ A test acquisition methodology and a preprocessing gait data pipeline were proposed. Their main function is the standardization of the data acquisition and preprocessing tasks to create objectively ready-to-analyze data for any GRF analysis application.
- The deployment of the developed gait monitoring system on a consulting room was presented. During an evaluation period, the system was tested with real patients and its performance evaluated by a specialist. The collected data was used to assess the system's performance. Also, a representation of the GRF tendency of the patient's gait, and insights on the patient data were presented.
- Finally, a proof of concept of classification of GRF patterns on gait was demonstrated. Three different gait patterns were acquired with the developed sensor footwear and the newly proposed acquisition methodology, then, the data was preprocessed with the developed preprocessing gait data pipeline. Subsequently, a convolutional neural network (CNN) was trained to classify the data. High accuracy results were obtained, which demonstrates the potential of gait pattern classification to develop auxiliary tools for clinical diagnosis of gait anomalies.



8.2 **RECOMENDATIONS**

In this work, the design, development, characterization and deployment of a gait monitoring and analysis system has been presented. However, there are still improvements to make and new features to develop and implement to the system. Some ideas are enlisted below.

Sensor Footwear

- In the actual prototype, the sensor insole is connected with wires. Considerations
 were made in the design and development of the insole to avoid mechanical error
 due to the wire. However, this process is slowly and carefully handcrafted. The
 implementation of flexible printed circuits is proposed to remove the wires, thereby,
 facilitating the construction of the proposed sensor insoles.
- It is also proposed the design and construction of a smaller printed circuit board (PCB) and the utilization of a smaller battery to assure maximum comfortability and social acceptance in the final version of the sensor footwear.
- The integration of inertial measurement unit sensors to the sensor footwear is proposed to obtain acceleration, angles and moments of the lower limb joints to complement gait analysis.

Software Features

- The development of an automatized report generator feature is proposed. This
 report would include statistics about gait parameters and their variability in a single
 test, and if the patient had previous sessions, a comparison of how the gait
 parameters have shifted.
- The development of an activity detection feature on the smartphone app is proposed. This feature could be implemented to monitor energy expenditure, or to evaluate the risk of fall in elder people.

REFERENCES

- [1] Ni. Stergiou, *Biomechanics and Gait Analysis*, 1st ed. 2020.
- K. Takakusaki, "Functional Neuroanatomy for Posture and Gait Control," *J. Mov. Disord.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–17, 2017, doi: 10.14802/jmd.16062.
- W. Pirker and R. Katzenschlager, "Gait disorders in adults and the elderly: A clinical guide," *Wien. Klin. Wochenschr.*, vol. 129, no. 3–4, pp. 81–95, 2017, doi: 10.1007/s00508-016-1096-4.
- [4] R. Baker, "Gait analysis methods in rehabilitation," *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.*, vol. 3, pp. 1–10, 2006, doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-3-4.
- [5] R. Baker, A. Esquenazi, M. G. Benedetti, and K. Desloovere, "Gait analysis: Clinical facts," *Eur. J. Phys. Rehabil. Med.*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 560–574, 2016.
- [6] E. Sebastião, R. E. Bollaert, E. A. Hubbard, and R. W. Motl, "Gait Variability and Energy Cost of Oveground Walking in Persons with Multiple Sclerosis: A Cross-Sectional Study," *Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil.*, vol. 97, no. 9, pp. 646–650, 2018, doi: 10.1097/PHM.00000000000935.
- [7] C. L. Vaughan, B. L. Davis, and J. C. O?Connor, *Dynamics of Human Gait*, 2nd ed. 1999.
- [8] M. T. Silva and J. A. C. Ambrósio, "Kinematic Data Consistency in the Inverse Dynamic Analysis of Biomechanical Systems," *Multibody Syst. Dyn.*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 219–239, 2002, doi: 10.1023/A.
- [9] J. Rose and J. G. Gamble, *Human Walking*, 3rd ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2005.
- [10] G. Giakas and V. Baltzopoulos, "Time and frequency domain analysis of ground reaction forces during walking: An investigation of variability and symmetry," *Gait Posture*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 189–197, 1997, doi: 10.1016/S0966-6362(96)01083-1.
- [11] M. P. Chris Kirtley, Clinical Gait Analysis: Theory and Practice. 2006.
- [12] E. Morag and P. R. Cavanagh, "Structural and functional predictors of regional peak



pressures under the foot during walking," *J. Biomech.*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 359–370, 1999, doi: 10.1016/S0021-9290(98)00188-2.

- [13] M. J. Mueller and K. S. Maluf, "Tissue adaptation to physical stress: A proposed 'Physical Stress Theory' to guide physical therapist practice, education, and research," *Phys. Ther.*, vol. 82, no. 4, pp. 383–403, 2002, doi: 10.1093/ptj/82.4.383.
- [14] M. J. Mueller, "Application of plantar pressure assessment in footwear and insert design," *J. Orthop. Sports Phys. Ther.*, vol. 29, no. 12, pp. 747–755, 1999, doi: 10.2519/jospt.1999.29.12.747.
- B. W. Stansfield *et al.*, "Normalized speed, not age, characterizes ground reaction force patterns in 5- to 12-year-old children walking at self-selected speeds," *J. Pediatr. Orthop.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 395–402, 2001, doi: 10.1097/00004694-200105000-00026.
- [16] D. Rosenbaum, S. Hautmann, M. Gold, and L. Claes, "Effects of walking speed on plantar pressure patterns and hindfoot angular motion," *Gait Posture*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 191–197, 1994, doi: 10.1016/0966-6362(94)90007-8.
- [17] L. Sloman, M. Pierrynowski, M. Berridge, S. Tupling, and J. Flowers, "Mood, depressive illness and gait patterns," *Can. J. Psychiatry*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 190– 193, 1987, doi: 10.1177/070674378703200306.
- [18] M. R. Lemke, T. Wendorff, B. Mieth, K. Buhl, and M. Linnemann, "Spatiotemporal gait patterns during over ground locomotion in major depression compared with healthy controls," *J. Psychiatr. Res.*, vol. 34, no. 4–5, pp. 277–283, 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0022-3956(00)00017-0.
- [19] R. Baker, "The history of gait analysis before the advent of modern computers," *Gait Posture*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 331–342, 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.10.014.
- [20] M. Akhtaruzzaman, A. A. Shafie, and M. R. Khan, "GAIT ANALYSIS: SYSTEMS, TECHNOLOGIES, and IMPORTANCE," *J. Mech. Med. Biol.*, vol. 16, no. 7, 2016, doi: 10.1142/S0219519416300039.
- [21] S. Chen, J. Lach, B. Lo, and G. Z. Yang, "Toward Pervasive Gait Analysis With Wearable Sensors: A Systematic Review," *IEEE J. Biomed. Heal. Informatics*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 1521–1537, 2016, doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2016.2608720.
- [22] M. N. Orlin and T. G. McPoil, "Plantar pressure assessment," *Phys. Ther.*, vol. 80, no. 4, pp. 399–409, 2000, doi: 10.1093/ptj/80.4.399.
- [23] A. S. Alharthi, S. U. Yunas, and K. B. Ozanyan, "Deep learning for monitoring of



human gait: A review," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 19, no. 21, pp. 9575–9591, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2019.2928777.

- [24] O. Costilla-Reyes, P. Scully, and K. B. Ozanyan, "Temporal Pattern Recognition in Gait Activities Recorded with a Footprint Imaging Sensor System," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 16, no. 24, pp. 8815–8822, 2016, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2016.2583260.
- [25] A. Jamshidi, J. P. Pelletier, and J. Martel-Pelletier, "Machine-learning-based patientspecific prediction models for knee osteoarthritis," *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 49–60, 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41584-018-0130-5.
- [26] H. Zhang, Y. Guo, and D. Zanotto, "Accurate Ambulatory Gait Analysis in Walking and Running Using Machine Learning Models," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 191–202, 2020, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2019.2958679.
- [27] Carlet G., "Essai experimental sur la locomotion humaine, etude de la marche. Annales des Sciences Naturelles: Zoologie," 1872.
- [28] P. W. Brand and J. H. Bauman, "Measurement of Pressure Between Foot and Shoe," JAMA J. Am. Med. Assoc., vol. 184, no. 9, p. 164, 1963, doi: 10.1001/jama.1963.03700220126088.
- [29] T. L. Lawrence and R. N. Schmidt, "Wireless in-shoe force system," Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. - Proc., vol. 5, no. C, pp. 2238–2241, 1997.
- [30] J. A. Ramirez-Bautista, J. A. Huerta-Ruelas, S. L. Chaparro-Cárdenas, and A. Hernández-Zavala, "A Review in Detection and Monitoring Gait Disorders Using In-Shoe Plantar Measurement Systems," *IEEE Rev. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 10, pp. 299–309, 2017, doi: 10.1109/RBME.2017.2747402.
- [31] L. Wang *et al.*, "A Review of Wearable Sensor Systems to Monitor Plantar Loading in the Assessment of Diabetic Foot Ulcers," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 9294, no. c, pp. 1–1, 2019, doi: 10.1109/tbme.2019.2953630.
- [32] Novel.de, "The pedar® system," *Novel GmbH*, 2019. https://www.novel.de/products/pedar/ (accessed May 19, 2021).
- [33] I. Tekscan, "F-Scan system." https://www.tekscan.com/productssolutions/systems/f-scan-system (accessed May 19, 2021).
- [34] T. medilogic M. GmbH, "medilogic WLAN insole." https://medilogic.com/en/medilogic-wlan-insole/ (accessed May 19, 2021).
- [35] Universitat Politecnica de Valencia, "Biofoot / IBV system." ww.ibv.org/productos-yservicios/productos/aplicaciones%02biomecanicas/biofootibv-sistema-de-



plantillas-instrumentadas-para%02el-analisis-de-las-presiones-plantares (accessed May 19, 2021).

- [36] S. M. T. in Motion, "FlexinFit sensorized system." https://www.sensormedica.com/site/en/products/sensorized-insoles (accessed May 19, 2021).
- [37] Medicapteurs France SAS, "W-inshoe system." https://www.medicapteurs.com/produits/winshoe-2/ (accessed May 19, 2021).
- [38] M. Munoz-Organero, J. Parker, L. Powell, R. Davies, and S. Mawson, "Sensor Optimization in Smart Insoles for Post-Stroke Gait Asymmetries Using Total Variation and L1 Distances," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 17, no. 10, pp. 3142–3151, 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2017.2686641.
- [39] S. Minto, D. Zanotto, E. M. Boggs, G. Rosati, and S. K. Agrawal, "Validation of a footwear-based gait analysis system with action-related feedback," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 24, no. 9, pp. 971–980, 2016, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2015.2498287.
- [40] Y. Wu, W. Xu, J. J. Liu, M. C. Huang, S. Luan, and Y. Lee, "An energy-efficient adaptive sensing framework for gait monitoring using smart insole," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 2335–2343, 2015, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2014.2372694.
- [41] R. Hua and Y. Wang, "Monitoring Insole (MONI): A Low Power Solution Toward Daily Gait Monitoring and Analysis," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 19, no. 15, pp. 6410–6420, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2019.2910105.
- [42] F. Lin, A. Wang, Y. Zhuang, M. R. Tomita, and W. Xu, "Smart Insole: A Wearable Sensor Device for Unobtrusive Gait Monitoring in Daily Life," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Informatics*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 2281–2291, 2016, doi: 10.1109/TII.2016.2585643.
- [43] I. P. I. Pappas, M. R. Popovic, T. Keller, V. Dietz, and M. Morari, "A reliable gait phase detection system," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 113–125, 2001, doi: 10.1109/7333.928571.
- [44] M. Muñoz-Organero, C. Littlewood, J. Parker, L. Powell, C. Grindell, and S. Mawson, "Identification of walking strategies of people with osteoarthritis of the knee using insole pressure sensors," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 17, no. 12, pp. 3909–3920, 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2017.2696303.
- [45] L. Claverie, A. Ille, and P. Moretto, "Discrete sensors distribution for accurate plantar pressure analyses," *Med. Eng. Phys.*, vol. 38, no. 12, pp. 1489–1494, 2016, doi:


10.1016/j.medengphy.2016.09.021.

- [46] T. M. Tsai, S. Y. Lee, and S. J. Chang, "Detection System for Capacitive Plantar Pressure Monitoring," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 42633–42655, 2020, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2976772.
- [47] Q. Zhang, Y. L. Wang, Y. Xia, X. Wu, T. V. Kirk, and X. D. Chen, "A low-cost and highly integrated sensing insole for plantar pressure measurement," *Sens. Bio-Sensing Res.*, vol. 26, no. September, p. 100298, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.sbsr.2019.100298.
- [48] S. Rajala, R. Mattila, I. Kaartinen, and J. Lekkala, "Designing, Manufacturing and Testing of a Piezoelectric Polymer Film In-Sole Sensor for Plantar Pressure Distribution Measurements," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 17, no. 20, pp. 6798–6805, 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2017.2750241.
- [49] A. G. Leal-Junior, A. Frizera, L. M. Avellar, C. Marques, and M. J. Pontes, "Polymer Optical Fiber for In-Shoe Monitoring of Ground Reaction Forces during the Gait," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 2362–2368, 2018, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2018.2797363.
- [50] M. F. Domingues *et al.*, "Insole optical fiber Bragg grating sensors network for dynamic vertical force monitoring," *J. Biomed. Opt.*, vol. 22, no. 9, p. 091507, 2017, doi: 10.1117/1.jbo.22.9.091507.
- [51] M. Abdelhady, A. J. Van Den Bogert, and D. Simon, "A High-Fidelity Wearable System for Measuring Lower-Limb Kinetics and Kinematics," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 19, no. 24, pp. 12482–12493, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2019.2940517.
- [52] N. Hegde *et al.*, "The Pediatric SmartShoe: Wearable Sensor System for Ambulatory Monitoring of Physical Activity and Gait," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 477–486, 2018, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2017.2786269.
- [53] S. J. M. Bamberg, A. Y. Benbasat, D. M. Scarborough, D. E. Krebs, and J. A. Paradiso, "Gait analysis using a shoe-integrated wireless sensor system," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Technol. Biomed.*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 413–423, 2008, doi: 10.1109/TITB.2007.899493.
- [54] D. Rosenbaum, H. Becker, D. Rosenbaum, and W. Wilhelms-, "Plantar pressure distribution measurements. Technical background and clinical applications Introduction Objectives of clinical gait analysis," *Foot Ankle Surg.*, vol. 3, pp. 1–14,

1997.

- [55] A. H. Abdul Razak, A. Zayegh, R. K. Begg, and Y. Wahab, "Foot plantar pressure measurement system: A review," *Sensors (Switzerland)*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 9884– 9912, 2012, doi: 10.3390/s120709884.
- [56] L. Wafai, A. Zayegh, J. Woulfe, S. Mahfuzul, and R. Begg, "Identification of foot pathologies based on plantar pressure asymmetry," *Sensors (Switzerland)*, vol. 15, no. 8, pp. 20392–20408, 2015, doi: 10.3390/s150820392.
- [57] Y. Guo and L. Wang, "S e n s o r s & T r a n s d u c e r s Recent Advance in Plantar Pressure Measurement Systems," vol. 145, no. 10, pp. 96–105, 2012.
- [58] S. Crea, C. Cipriani, M. Donati, M. C. Carrozza, and N. Vitiello, "Providing Time-Discrete Gait Information by Wearable Feedback Apparatus for Lower-Limb Amputees: Usability and Functional Validation," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 250–257, 2015, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2014.2365548.
- [59] L. B. McMillan, T. DI Pauli Von Treuheim, A. Murphy, A. Zengin, P. R. Ebeling, and D. Scott, "Development and Validation of a Wearable Plantar Force Measurement Device," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 19, no. 11, pp. 4008–4016, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2019.2896595.
- [60] U. Martinez-Hernandez, I. Mahmood, and A. A. Dehghani-Sanij, "Simultaneous Bayesian Recognition of Locomotion and Gait Phases with Wearable Sensors," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 1282–1290, 2018, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2017.2782181.
- [61] T. C. Pataky, T. Mu, K. Bosch, D. Rosenbaum, and J. Y. Goulermas, "Gait recognition: Highly unique dynamic plantar pressure patterns among 104 individuals," *J. R. Soc. Interface*, vol. 9, no. 69, pp. 790–800, 2012, doi: 10.1098/rsif.2011.0430.
- [62] H. Zhang, D. Zanotto, and S. K. Agrawal, "Estimating CoP Trajectories and Kinematic Gait Parameters in Walking and Running Using Instrumented Insoles," *IEEE Robot. Autom. Lett.*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 2159–2165, 2017, doi: 10.1109/LRA.2017.2721550.
- [63] K. R. Mun, G. Song, S. Chun, and J. Kim, "Gait Estimation from Anatomical Foot Parameters Measured by a Foot Feature Measurement System using a Deep Neural Network Model," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 13–15, 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28222-2.

- [64] G. D. Fulk, S. R. Edgar, R. Bierwirth, P. Hart, P. Lopez-Meyer, and E. Sazonov, "Identifying activity levels and steps of people with stroke using a novel shoe-based sensor," *J. Neurol. Phys. Ther.*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 100–107, 2012, doi: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e318256370c.
- [65] Z. He, T. Liu, and J. Yi, "A Wearable Sensing and Training System: Towards Gait Rehabilitation for Elderly Patients with Knee Osteoarthritis," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 19, no. 14, pp. 5936–5945, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2019.2908417.
- [66] K. M. Leitch, T. B. Birmingham, I. C. Jones, J. R. Giffin, and T. R. Jenkyn, "In-shoe plantar pressure measurements for patients with knee osteoarthritis: Reliability and effects of lateral heel wedges," *Gait Posture*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 391–396, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.06.008.
- [67] R. D. Gurchiek *et al.*, "Open-Source Remote Gait Analysis: A Post-Surgery Patient Monitoring Application," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-54399-1.
- [68] R. Z. U. Rehman, S. Del Din, Y. Guan, A. J. Yarnall, J. Q. Shi, and L. Rochester, "Selecting Clinically Relevant Gait Characteristics for Classification of Early Parkinson's Disease: A Comprehensive Machine Learning Approach," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-53656-7.
- [69] L. Montesinos, R. Castaldo, and L. Pecchia, "Wearable inertial sensors for fall risk assessment and prediction in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 573–582, 2018, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2017.2771383.
- [70] H. Qiu, R. Z. U. Rehman, X. Yu, and S. Xiong, "Application of Wearable Inertial Sensors and A New Test Battery for Distinguishing Retrospective Fallers from Nonfallers among Community-dwelling Older People," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-34671-6.
- [71] C. J. Bennetts, T. M. Owings, A. Erdemir, G. Botek, and P. R. Cavanagh, "Clustering and classification of regional peak plantar pressures of diabetic feet," *J. Biomech.*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 19–25, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2012.09.007.
- [72] A. S. Alharthi and K. B. Ozanyan, "Deep Learning for Ground Reaction Force Data Analysis: Application to Wide-Area Floor Sensing," *IEEE Int. Symp. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 2019-June, pp. 1401–1406, 2019, doi: 10.1109/ISIE.2019.8781511.

